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Putting Wellness First

VISION

Your companion for 

Healthier, Happier Lives.

TRUST
We are consistently open, 

ethical and honest. We are 

transparent & treat everyone 

with dignity & respect.

PROACTIVE
We are entrepreneurial and 

deliberate in our intent, 

reaching beyond boundaries & 

experiment always, daring to 

be  different.

INNOVATION
We foster an environment that 

challenges constraints & drives 

progress with agility, tenacity 

& a sense of urgency.

EXCELLENCE
We are caring & empathetic. 

We consistently exceed 

expectations & deliver without 

excuses.

SUPERIOR 
CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE
We understand what our 

customers want & need & 

deliver on what we promise 

them.

MISSION

To provide competitive & 

diverse health care solutions 

for members through 

innovation & excellence.

VALUES
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Putting Wellness First

The program is much 
interesting, if i have a 
question i’ll ask.

Thank you so much.

i’m enjoying these emails 
with information please 
keep it coming.

Thank you for the 
information. i’m getting 
educated.

Thank u so much for 
keeping me in touch, and 
the relationship tips are so 
helpful.

Hello, i’m happy that i had 
you in the journey, felt loved , 
encouraged & i learned a lot.

You are making my 
pregnancy journey very 
pleasant. i also get pleasure 
that my husband gets to 
receive these notifications. 
His input in helping me cope 
with changes in my body is 
influenced by you. Thank u.

Bombaby 
Compliments
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Putting Wellness First

Ofentse Mabote          Chairperson

Emmanuel Maite        Trustee

Julius Ghanie                Trustee

Evelyn Disele               Trustee

Moraki Mokgosana    Principal Officer

Board of 
Trustees

L-R
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Lydia Andries                               Trustee

Fergus Ferguson                         Trustee

Prof. Oathokwa Nkomazana    Trustee

Cross Kgosidiile                Trustee

Thabo Silitshena              Deputy Chairperson

L-R
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Ofentse Mabote-Chairperson

Ofentse Mabote has worked as an accountant 
and finance professional for over 20 years. 
He has worked in the Telecommunications, 
Insurance, Security and Postal industries; 
holding executive positions in the latter three. 
During his career, Ofentse has been instrumental 
in a number of change management projects, 
integration of management information 
systems, financial systems designs and 
implementation, start-up projects and turn 
around strategies.

He has held several Board and Trustee 
memberships at G4S Botswana Limited, 
G4S Facilities Management Limited and BIC 
Retirement Fund. He has also served as 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees for G4S 
Pension Fund and is currently serving as 
a member of the Board of Trustees for UB 
Pension Fund.

Ofentse is a BA (Economics & Accounting) 
graduate of the University of Botswana, a 
fellow of the Botswana Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (FCA), an Associate member 
of Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants (ACMA) and a Chartered member 
of Global Management Accountants (CGMA).

Thabo Silitshena

Thabo Silitshena is a seasoned banker with end 
to end experience in banking. Thabo currently 
heads the Financial Institutions Group portfolio 
at Barclays Bank of Botswana in the Corporate 
& Investment Banking (CIB) division. 

Thabo joined Barclays in 2005 and has held 
a variety of roles across Operations, Risk & 
Governance, business process re-engineering 
including time as the bank’s Chief of Staff and 
Head of Strategy between 2009 and 2014 
before he moved to the bank’s CIB division. 

At CIB, Thabo headed the Global Clients 
portfolio as well as Transactional Banking 
Sales. In 2017 he was seconded to Barclays 
Bank Seychelles where he led the Transactional 
Banking team to significant portfolio growth. 
He has also had short stints at Barclays PLC 
and Barclays Tanzania.

Prior to joining Barclays, Thabo worked as 
an Audit Officer at Grant Thornton. Thabo 
has a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from 
the University of Melbourne, Australia and 
has completed a number of management 
development programs, notably with the 
University of Stellenbosch and Duke Corporate 
Education. He is the chairman of Southview 

(Pty) Ltd Board of Directors,  Bomaid’s 
investment arm, and has previously served 
on the Board of Directors for MRI Botswana 
Limited as a Non-Executive Director.

Evelyn Disele

Evelyn Disele has an MSc in Human Resource 
Management from the University of Salford, UK 
(2004) and a Bachelor of Arts in Social Sciences 
with majors in Public Administration and 
Accounting from the University of Botswana 
(1996). She is a seasoned Human Resource 
Management professional who is also a 
Certified Pension Specialist. 

Her career started off in 1997 when she joined 
the public service as an Administration Officer 
where she spent fourteen years of a lustrous 
career having progressed up to the level of 
senior management as a Hospital Manager 
(Finance and Administration), the position 
which she held for two years before joining 
Water Utilities Corporation (WUC) in 2011 as 
the Human Resource Manager. She currently 
serves in the Water Utilities Corporation 
Pension Fund as an Alternate Chairperson in 
the Board of Trustees.

Lydia Andries

Lydia Andries joined the Botswana Institute of 
Bankers as Executive Director and CEO in 2015, 
having previously been the CEO of Hollard 
Life Botswana (Pty) Ltd. She has headed the 
Group Strategy and Communications Division 
for Letshego (Pty) Ltd, following a long career 
in banking and insurance, dating back to 1997.

Lydia is highly skilled in business development, 
strategic thinking, innovation and relationship 
management. 

She holds an MSc in Strategic Management 
from the University of Derby, and an MSc in 
Actuarial Science from the University of Kent 
at Canterbury, UK. Lydia sits on the Board 
of Directors for MRI Botswana Limited and 
Southview (Pty) Ltd.

Emmanuel Maite

Emmanuel Maite has a Master’s Degree in 
Human Resources Management from Rutgers, 
The State University of New Jersey (USA) which 
he obtained in 2000 and a Bachelor’s Degree 
in Public Administration from University of 
Botswana, conferred in 1996.His experience 
spans a period of 14 years in Senior and 
Executive Management roles.  He was 
previously Head of Human Resources at BAMB, 

Board of 
Trustees
Profiles
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De Beers Prospecting, Botswana Savings 
Bank, University of Botswana and Botswana 
Development Corporation. 

He also served as the General Manager 
responsible for Botswana Development 
Corporation’s Subsidiaries. He is currently 
the Human Resources Director at Botswana 
Examinations Council. 

He has served in the Board of Directors of 
Mashatu Nature Reserve (Pty) Ltd, Lion 
Park Amusement Park (Pty) Ltd, Phakalane 
Property Development (Pty) Ltd and the Human 
Resources Committee of HRDC.

 He also served as the Human Resources Expert 
Advisor of the PPADB Board of Directors. 
He is currently the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of MRI Botswana Limited.

He brings to the Bomaid Boardroom a wealth 
of knowledge and experience derived from the 
complex and challenging strategic corporate 
environments from which he operated over 
the years. He brings on-board a unique mix 
of human resources, business knowledge and 
expertise.

Prof. Oathokwa Nkomazana

Prof.  Oathokwa Nkomazana is a Senior Lecturer 
and Dean of the University Of Botswana Faculty 
of Medicine, and an Adjunct Associate Professor 
of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania. 
From October 2018 to date, she is the Acting 
Deputy Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs at 
the University of Botswana. She received her 
medical degree from the University of Glasgow 
in 1993 and has more than twenty years of 
public health services experience in Botswana, 
South Africa and the United Kingdom. 

In addition, she served as Superintendent of 
Princess Marina Hospital from 2005 to 2006. 
Prof. Nkomazana is a fellow of the College 
of Ophthalmologists of South Africa and 
trained at the Universities of Cape Town and 
Bloemfontein between 1996 and 2001. 

She is also a public health practitioner having 
received an MSc in Community Eye Health from 
the London School of Hygiene and Tropical 
Medicine in 2006 and a PhD in Family Medicine 
from Stellenbosch University in 2017. 

Fergus Ferguson

Ferguson is an experienced financial services 
professional with proven senior leadership 
experience in retail banking in Botswana. 
After 4 years working in Manufacturing and 

Telecommunications, he joined the largest retail 
bank in Botswana, Barclays Bank Botswana 
in 2007. 

His last role at Barclays Bank Botswana was 
Consumer Credit Risk Director, an executive 
position, where his strategic focus was set on 
the implementation and maintenance of robust 
credit risk systems and processes and overall 
risk management of consumer lending. 

He left Barclays in 2015 to assume an Executive 
position at Letshego Holdings Limited (LHL) 
as Head of Group Credit Risk. At Letshego 
he was responsible for development and 
execution of credit risk strategies across all 
group subsidiaries. 

Ferguson was subsequently deployed in 
the LHL Group as Chief Executive Officer of 
Letshego Financial Services Botswana (Pty) 
Ltd in 2017.  Currently, he is responsible for the 
overall performance and strategic leadership to 
LHL group’s largest subsidiary.  

Ferguson attained a Bachelor of Accounting 
Degree from the University of Botswana 
in 2003 and a Master of Science (Strategic 
Management) from the University of Derby in 
2017 as well as a number of other Leadership 
and Management Certifications.

Julius Ghanie

Julius Ghanie has worked as an IT professional 
for 26 years, growing from a graduate Trainee 
Computer Programmer in 1992 to a full 
Programmer at Botswana Railways and later 
joining Bank of Botswana as a Systems Analyst 
in 1995.  

He rose through the ranks to the executive 
position of IT Director in 2004.  During his career 
at the Bank, Julius has been instrumental in 
the implementation of a number of IT projects 
aimed at modernising the payment systems of 
the country, automation of internal operations, 
streamlining IT processes in line with reputable 
IT Governance frameworks as well as providing 
a stable, efficient and secure computing 
environment.  

In 2010, he was appointed to serve as member 
of the Curriculum Advisory Committee at the 
University of Botswana Computer Science 
Department for a period of two years.  Julius 
has been the lead coordinator of the SADC 
central banks IT security with special emphasis 
on cyber threats since 2012. He, respectively, 
holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Computer 
Science (1992) and a Master of Science in 

Information Systems Management (2012) from 
the universities of Edinburgh and Liverpool. 
He benefited from a number of specialised 
short-term courses in the IT profession 
including business continuity management, 
ITIL and management of the IT function.  Julius 
attended the executive leadership program at 
the Gordon Institute of Business Science, South 
Africa in 2004.

Cross Kgosidiile

Cross Kgosidiile is highly experienced in 
accounting and finance. He holds a BCom 
(Accounting), MBA and FCMA FCPA (Bots). 
He is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants. 

He was the CEO of the Motor Vehicle Accident 
Fund for over 10 years from 2005. He is now 
the Acting Chief Executive Officer of Botswana 
Power Corporation. He sits in various Boards 
in Botswana and chairs the Audit Committee 
for Prime Time.

Moraki Mokgosana- Bomaid Principal 
Officer and Chief Executive Officer

Moraki Mokgosana has been involved in the 
medical aid industry since 2005 and served as a 
board member and chairperson of Metropolitan 
Health Botswana (Pty) Ltd until November 
2013. Moraki has held leadership positions 
with G4S Botswana Limited, Collection Africa 
Limited and Credit Reference Bureau where he 
served as Managing Director. 

He worked as a Business Development 
Executive for Botswana International Financial 
Services Centre (now BITC) and has also held 
various accounting positions with different 
multinationals. 

He is a Trustee of the Kabelano Trust, 
Tshwaragano Adventure Trust and also 
serves on the boards of the Botswana Meat 
Commission and the Board of Health Funders 
of Southern Africa. 

Moraki holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting) Degree from the University of 
Botswana and a Master of Business Leadership 
from the School of Business Leadership at the 
University of South Africa.

Moraki has been at the helm of Bomaid since 
December 2013 and has overseen several 
transformation projects including the return of 
Bomaid to a self-administered medical aid fund.
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Chairperson’s
Statement

84% 

85% 

Claims ratio 2018

Claims ratio  2017
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Introduction

It is with great pleasure that I present the 2018 
Bomaid Annual report to our valued members. 
As the Board reflects on the past two years of 
our strategic plan, we are confident that we can 
satisfactorily measure how The Society has lived 
up to its strategic mandate, values and vision, 
much to the benefit of our esteemed members.

Overview

With the global economy being characterized by 
subdued economic activities due to uncertainties 
in the global markets, Bomaid was not alone 
in having to contend with an economy that 
remained under pressure. Our main strategic 
imperatives is to grow the topline, contain 
costs, grow our reserves, improve solvency and 
most importantly that we service our members 
exceptionally well. However, evidently some 
of our input costs especially claims are hinged 
on the hard currencies and with the prevailing 
economic shape coupled with trade wars, we are 
adversely affected as this also had an impact on 
part of our investment portfolio offshore.
 
Although 2018 had its challenges, once again 
our core purpose of making our members live 
healthier, happier lives has grown in relevance 
and applicability. We are pleased with the results 
of the year under review as we managed to not 
only grow our topline but also contain our costs 
as a result of strategic initiatives emanating from 
the prior year. The performance growth can be 
attributed to a hybrid of factors being efficiency 
in administrating claims, managing non health 
costs, maintaining our membership base and 
marginally increasing it. 
 

Fraud and benefit abuse

Fraud remains a great concern that cuts across 
the whole medical aid industry and we are 
doing everything possible to deter its continued 
prevalence. As a response to its growing rate, we 
had to ensure that our adjudication process of 
claims is controlled and rule based. Further, we 
had to extend our safeguards by ensuring that 
our service providers are directly linked to our 
systems as delayed claims proved to be highly 
inherent to fraud risk and benefit abuse. 

Furthermore, as a board, we had to set a tone by 
ensuring that our risk management processes 
improve on a year on year basis as we mature in 
our enterprise risk management processes. This 
entails that the controls that we have in place 
are regularly checked to ensure that they are 
appropriate, adequate and meeting the needs 
of The Society.  

It is also worth noting that as a society, we are 
part of the Southern Africa regional body being 
The Board of Health Funders whose members 
share almost the same experiences and as such 
are kept abreast on what to look out for from the 
fraud and benefit abuse perspective. From the 
claims patterns experienced by The Society in 
the year under review, we can reliably deduce 
and have reason to believe there has been no 
increase in the fraud and benefit aspect. 

Performance

Our revenue for the Bomaid Group grew 9% in 
the year under review. Bomaid’s strategic target 
for claims (health costs) is to be 80% of revenue 
(contributions) and in the year under review, we 
reported  84%, a 1% improvement from prior year 
of 85%. This contributed to a healthy growth 
in the Group’s contribution surplus of 16.9%. 
Administrative costs grew 3.4% close to inflation. 
This is in line with efforts to contain these costs 
to reduce them to be within the 10% bracket. Our 
investments did not perform well as previously 
explained. Despite this, the surplus for the year 
grew by 42.9% a phenomenal improvement from 
the previous year. 

Our reserves grew by 9.7% largely on the 
backdrop of the good surplus, they helped the 
financial position growth by 12%. We further 
have seen an improvement in our working 
capital as improvement in controls around cash 
management cycle.  These are all a result of the 
continued support of our members in believing 
the Board of Trustees endeavor to ensure 
sustainability of the funds financial performance 
as member’s health is improved.

Members

We continue to have chal lenges in the 
hospitalization costs and medication dispensing 
as they have proved to be major drivers of 
claims. Efforts are continually being made to 
ensure that there is an uptake of interventions 
in terms of screening and enrolment in chronic 
diseases medication. As we continue to engage 
our members to be involved in these routines, 
accordingly we will see a continued decline in 
our claims cost. 

As health dynamics are ever changing and so are 
societal needs these necessitate that Bomaid 
move with times so as to effectively meet 
our member’s needs. It is worth noting that 
disease burden is now overwhelmingly lifestyle 
based with four main risk factors being poor 
diet, physical inactivity, tobacco use and excess 
alcohol intake leading to chronic diseases. To this 
end, we have lined up an innovative IT system 
that shall be implemented in the subsequent 

year which shall be pivotal in keeping abreast 
with trends in the execution of our mandate. 
Enhancing our service level and overall member 
experience through automation is key to retain 
our members and facilitate their growth.

Human resource

It is an undeniable fact that human resource 
is our most prized asset hence we will always 
ensure that we create an enabling environment 
for execution of The Society’s mandate. To 
this effect, I can confidently report that we 
have a brilliant workforce that is capable to 
comfortably see Bomaid achieve the desired 
results over the strategic period and beyond. 
They have demonstrated their competence and 
commitment even after the restructuring that 
was effected in 2016 thus at all times, we ensure 
that they are engaged and have the freedom to 
execute their mandate. 

As the Board, we implore management at all 
times to ensure that the employees are engaged 
and appreciated. It is motivating to note that on 
a voluntary basis, employees initiated a wellness 
program and as a Board we only had to support 
and facilitate its continued running. In terms 
of employee satisfaction indicators, we scored 
65% in the last survey. This may not be our best 
score based on the ideal target of 80% but it is 
a clear indication that we are making strides in 
the right direction and action plans have been 
put in place to ensure that the score is improved 
going forward.

Corporate governance

The Board of Trustee’s primary role is to steer 
The Society ethically and to ensure sustainable 
value proposition. We have one of the most 
hardworking Board of Trustees as the results 
bear testimony to that effect. It is indeed a 
pleasure for me to work with a committed Board 
of Trustees, who want to see The Society being 
the lead as it has always been and also strive 
to get it to be the benchmark within the region.

In the year under review, we had some notable 
positives resulting from the adoption of the 
King IV report on corporate governance. Salient 
among them being the implementation of the 
risk management processes, establishment of 
an IT structure that is in line with the strategy 
and continued to build on other governance 
instruments ensuring they are duly reviewed 
and in line with King IV.

We have continued to ensure that we are fully 
compliant with all regulations that The Society 
is subjected to. Our principal regulatory body 
is NBFIRA and we have had a review to which 
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I am pleased that we were able to meet their 
requirements.

Outlook

Our paramount target for the subsequent year 
and beyond is to ensure that we pursue our 
promise of ensuring that our members continue 
enjoying seamless, smooth interactions with 
The Society and further enable them improve 
their health. We also aspire to have the overall 
performance of the group to be enhanced with 
positive contributions from our subsidiaries. 

We will also focus on preparing for the eminent 
promulgation of the medical  aid sector 
legislation and regulations so that we remain 
at the apex as far as compliance is concerned.

Appreciation

On the good performance of The Society and 
excellent service rendered to our members, we 
want to implore our employees and encourage 
them to continue exhibiting the same calibre 
on a continuous basis to ensure that the 
sustainability of the fund is upheld.

To our valued members, I want to reassure 
you that as we exist as a society, you are at 
the forefront of our thought process and the 
enhancements that we have made possible in 
the year under review will continue even in the 
coming years. 

Your continued patronage of The Society is well 
appreciated and your continued engagements 
with The Society are applauded. We will strive 
to continue serving you better as we improve 
our operations.

............................................................................
Ofentse Mabote 
Chairperson of the Board of Trustees

Putting Wellness First

04  Board of Trustees        06  Board of Trustees Profiles         08  Chairperson’s Statement                      12  Corporate Governance        



13

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

16  Stakeholder Engagements           20  Corporate Social Responsibility          26 Principal Officer’s Report          35  Financial Statements    

13

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

16  Stakeholder Engagements           20  Corporate Social Responsibility          26 Principal Officer’s Report          35  Financial Statements    



14

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

04  Board of Trustees        06  Board of Trustees Profiles         08  Chairperson’s Statement                      12  Corporate Governance        

Board of Trustees Statement on Governance

Botswana Medical  Aid  Society Board, 
working closely with The Bomaid Executive 
Management, has committed itself to high 
levels of ethical leadership, integrity and good 
governance. The Board holds the view that 
for The Society to remain and continue being 
sustainable, and a key stakeholder in the health 
care industry, it must provide the necessary 
oversight to ensure that The Society has a 
solid reputation.

The Board of Trustees remains committed to 
supporting good governance as the benefits 
of ethical leadership and a well-run Society 
accrues to the Members. The Book of Rules 
entrusts The Board of Trustees  with control 
and supervision of the general business of 
The Society. Good governance by The Board of 
Trustees increases stakeholder confidence and 
enables better decision making for the benefit 
of Members.  

The Trustees have a fiduciary duty to administer 
the assets of The Trust with due skill and care 
reasonably expected from a Member in the 
position of a Trustee. The Board of Trustees is 
therefore accountable to the Members of The 
Society, who are beneficiaries of the assets 
from The Trust. The Board of Trustees is duty 
bound to act in accordance with the document 
creating The Trust and to the best interest of 
The Trust at all times. The Board has committed 
itself to the highest standards of Corporate 
Governance through adopting and applying 
the principles enshrined in the King IV Code and 
adhering to the Board Charter which outlines 
the Board’s duties and responsibilities.

Having recognised the need to have a strong 
risk management process, the Board has put 
in place a framework, policies and practices 

that will ensure that The Society remains 
competitive and viable. The Board of Trustees 
remains responsible and committed to setting 
The Society’s strategic direction, developing 
key policies, approving budgets, monitoring 
implementation of the approved strategy and 
ensuring that there is full compliance with all 
regulatory requirements. These responsibilities 
are achieved through a systematic process 
of comprehensive reporting to the Board of 
Trustees and functional Committees, and the 
Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
that reporting standards conform to the 
principles laid out in The Society’s Book of 
Rules and other internationally recognized 
reporting codes.

Board Structure

The Board of Trustees is composed of ten (10) 
Trustees. The Society’s Book of Rules provides 
that Four (4) members are elected by Member 
Companies and appointed to the Board by 
the General Membership of The Society.  Two 
(2) Trustees are Members of The Society 
nominated by any other Member of The Society, 
and elected by the General Membership at the 
Annual General Meeting. Three (3) independent 
Members are appointed by the six (6) Trustees 
appointed by the General Membership. The 
Board further includes one Ex- Officio Member, 
being the Chief Executive Officer who is also 
The Principal Officer of The Society and is 
appointed by the Board. The elected Trustees 
serve for a maximum of two terms of three 
years each. 

The Board of Trustees Chairperson and Deputy 
Chairperson are elected from among the nine 
(9) Non-Executive Trustees. Mr Ofentse Mabote 
was appointed as the Chairman of the Board 
in June 2016 while Mr Thabo Silitshena was 
elected Deputy Chairman in July 2014. 

Board Composition

Mr Ofentse Mabote Trustee/Chairman            (Effective 30th June 2016)

Mr Thabo Silitshena Deputy Chairperson 

Ms Lydia Andries Trustee 

Ms Evelyn Disele Trustee 

Mr Fergus Ferguson Trustee 

Prof. Oathokwa Nkomazana   Trustee 

Mr Julius Ghanie Trustee 

Mr Emmanuel Maite Trustee 

Mr Cross Kgosidiile                       Trustee

Mr Moraki  Mokgosana                 Chief Executive Officer / Principal Officer 

Corporate 
Governance
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Attendance Register

P-Present A-Absent/Apology 
N/A Not Applicable/Trustee not on Board

Board Committees

The Society’s Book of Rules and Board Charter 
provide for the establishment of designated 
Board Committees, to assist the Board with 
delivery of its mandate. The Book of Rules 
and Board Charter provide that the Board of 
Trustees may delegate some of its powers to 
these designated Committees and this is in 
accordance with good corporate governance 
standards. 

The Board of Trustees ensures that the 
delegated authority of Committees is express 
and that The Committees work in line with 
the terms of reference as provided in the 
Committee Charters. 

The Committees are mandated to make 
recommendations of their final decisions to The 
Board of Trustees for approval. The delegation 
of authority to Committees does not absolve 
nor transfer any of the responsibilities of The 
Board to the respective Committees, and The 
Board remains ultimately accountable to the 
Members of The Society. 

The Society has the Finance and Investment 
Committee, Risk and Audit Committee, Appeals, 
Benefits and Service Quality Committee and 
the Human Resource and Compensation 
Committee. The Chairman of the Board does 
not sit in any Committee of the Board. 

Finance & Investment Committee 

Lydia Andries        Chairperson 
Cross Kgosidiile Member
Thabo Silitshena  Member 
Julius Ghanie Member
Moraki Mokgosana    Ex-Officio

The Finance & Investment Committee 
comprises at least three members. The main 
function of The Committee is to assist The 
Board in discharging its duties and general 
oversight function on financial and investment 
matters of The Society. The Committee 
continuously reviews reports on investment 
performance,  actuar ia l  report ing and 
management accounts and makes the requisite 
recommendations on investment and financial 
matters to The Board for approval. The duties 
of the Committee are:

Financial Management

In relation to financial matters, the Committee 
is responsible for;

• Devising, reviewing and recommending any 
amendments to the Financial Regulations 
and other finance and investment policies 
of The Society.

• Presenting The Society’s annual budgets to 
the Board of Trustees for approval.

• Monitoring the execution of the budget 
approved by the Board of Trustees.

• Presenting to the Board, The Society’s 
financial statements and management 
accounts on a quarterly basis and advising the 
Board on matters pertaining to the financial 
statements and management accounts. 

Investment Management

In relation to investment matters, the Committee 
is responsible for;

• Devising, reviewing and recommending any 
amendments to the investment policies of 
The Society.

• Giving effect to The Society’s investment 
policies as approved and adopted by the 
Board of Trustees.

• Ensuring that responsible investment is 
practiced by The Society to promote good 
governance and the creation of value by the 
Companies in which it invests.  

• R e c o m m e n d i n g  t o  t h e  B o a r d ,  t h e 
appointment and termination of the Asset 
Managers and Investment Consultant and 
monitoring their performance.

• Examining recommendations on investment 
related matters and seeking approval of the 
Board of Trustees where appropriate. 

• D e l e g a t i n g  t o  M a n a g e m e n t  a n d /
or  outsourced  Asset  Managers ,  the 
implementation of responsible investment 
policy and ensuring accountability for 
complying with formal mandate. 

Actuarial Matters 

In relation to actuarial matters, the Committee 
is responsible for;

• Examining the financial impact of proposals 
on The Society’s annual Benefits and 
Contribution Review in liaison with the 
Benefits, Appeals and Service Quality 
Committee.

Board Meetings

In terms of the Book of Rules, the Board of Trustees sits at least four (4) times a year. During the year, The Board met ten (10)  times. Four of the 
meetings were scheduled whilst the other six were special meetings.

Date of Board Meeting 31/1/18 09/2/18 04/5/18 29/5/18 14/6/18 27/6/18 01/08/18 5/10/18 5/11/18 13/12/18

Ofentse Mabote P P P P P P P P P P

Oathokwa Nkomazana A A P A A A P P A P

Evelyn Disele A P P P P A A A A A

Thabo Silitshena A P P P P A P P P P

Lydia Andries P P P P P P P P P P

Emmanuel Maite P P P P P P P P P P

Fergus Ferguson P P P P P P P P P P

Julius Ghanie P P P P P P P P P P

Cross Kgosidiile   A P A P P P P P P A
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Attendance Register

Date of Meeting 31/01/18 22/03/18 04/06/18 26/06/18 31/07/18 06/09/18 10/10/18 23/10/18 06/12/18

Lydia Andries P A P P P P P P P

Cross Kgosidiile P P P P P P P P P

Thabo Silitshena P P P P P P P A P

Julius Ghanie P P A P A P P P P

Risk & Audit Committee

Cross Kgosidiile  Chairperson
Lydia Andries  Member
Thabo Silitshena   Member 
Julius Ghanie  Member
Fergus Ferguson  Member
Moraki Mokgosana  Ex-Officio

The Risk and Audit Committee comprises at least three members. The 
main function of The Committee is to assist The Board in discharging its 
duties of managing The Society’s internal controls and risk management 
systems. 

The Committee continuously reviews reports on the management 
of internal controls, risk management and makes the requisite 
recommendations to The Board for approval. The duties of the Committee 
are;

Risk Assessment

In relation to risk assessment, Risk and Audit Committee reviews the 
risk register in which all key operational and financial risks affecting the 
business are recorded. New risks, if and when identified, are added to 
the register while others fall away over a period of time due to effective 
mitigation interventions. 

The role of the Risk and Audit Committee is to enhance The Society’s 
ability to manage, and not necessarily avoid or eliminate every risk, but 
to ensure that the overall risk profile remains within acceptable appetite.

Auditing

In relation to auditing, The Committee is required to:

• Assist The Board in its evaluation of the adequacy and efficiency of the 
internal control systems, accounting practices, information systems 
and auditing processes applied in the day-to-day management of The 
Society in compliance with all applicable legal requirements, corporate 
governance and accounting standards.

• Provide a forum for communication between The Board, Management, 
the Internal and External Auditors.

• Review and confirm the independence of the External Auditors, and 
to review and approve the engagement of the External Auditors for 
non-audit work.

Attendance Register

Date of Meeting 26/03/18 29/05/18 27/09/18 27/11/18

Cross Kgosidiile                    A P P P

Lydia Andries  P P P P 

Thabo Silitshena P P A P

Julius Ghanie P P P P

Fergus Ferguson P P A P

P-Present  A-Absent/Apology NA-Not Applicable/Trustee not on Board 
*Alternate Member

Appeals, Benefits and Service Quality Committee

Evelyn Disele   Chairperson 

Oathokwa Nkomazana                  Member 

Emmanuel Maite                  Member 

Julius Ghanie                  Member

Moraki Mokgosana                     Ex-Officio

This Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibility to 
assess appeals from The Society’s Members and to foster a culture of 
service excellence. The Committee ensures that The Society fulfills its 
mission of providing competitive and diverse health care funding through 
innovation and service excellence while at the same time maintaining an 
appropriate balance between compassion, fairness and fiscal realism.

Attendance Register

Date of meeting 20/3/18 06/06/18 4/10/18 20/10/18

Evelyn Disele P P A P

Emmanuel Maite P P P P

Julius Ghanie P A P A

Thabo Silitshena* N/A N/A N/A P

Oathokwa Nkomazana A P P A

P-Present   A-Absent/Apology NA-Not Applicable/Trustee not on 
Board*Alternate Member
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Human Resource and Compensation Committee

Emmanuel Maite   Chairperson 
Evelyn Disele  Member 
Thabo Silitshena  Member 
Moraki Mokgosana  Ex-Officio

The function of this Committee is to advise The Board on Human Resource 
policies and strategies, including remuneration and the appointment of 
officers of The Society. 

The Committee is charged with reviewing and offering counsel on 
the status of The Society’s human intellectual capital. In addition, The 
Committee evaluates succession planning and endorses Executive 
appointments. The Committee is also responsible for the welfare of Board 
Members across the Group.

This Committee is also responsible for reviewing the remuneration policies 
of The Society. In awarding annual increases to Employees, consideration 
is given to The Society’s performance, an Employee’s performance as well 
as economic conditions impacting the industry and geographical market 
in which The Society operates.

Attendance Register

Date of meeting 15/03/18 31/05/18 30/08/18 21/10/18

Emmanuel Maite P P P P

Evelyn Disele P P A P

Thabo Silitshena P P P P

Fergus Ferguson* P A A A

P-Present A-Absent/Apology NA Not Applicable/Trustee not on 
Board*Alternate Member

Board Remuneration

Compensation for members was as follows for the year under review:

2018 Board Fees
           

O Mabote P191 250.00           

E Disele P  51 000.00  

T Silitshena P157 537.50   

O Nkomazana P  34 875.00

L Andries P170 542.50

E Maite P130 042.50

F Ferguson P113 700.00

C Kgosidiile P165 375.00

J Ghanie P146 250.00

Remuneration above includes compensation for Trustees’ attendance 
at Committee meetings. The breakdown of remuneration by meeting 
type is as follows:

Board P344, 625.00

Benefits, Appeals and Service Quality Committee  P   61,500.00

Finance & Investment Committee P166, 875.00

Risk & Audit Committee  P121, 500.00

Human Resources & Compensation Committee P  76, 875.00 

Other Assignments  P389, 197.50 
 
Investment Policy of The Society

The Society is, in principle, a Benefit Society. The Society is therefore 
not taxed on receipt of subscriptions and income on investments. The 
Board of Trustees have a duty to approve an appropriate strategy for The 
Society, monitor the performance of The Society’s investments and make 
investment changes where necessary.

The Board has reviewed the Investment Policy and Strategy document 
that was approved in 2015 and adopted a strategy that enabled The 
Society to meet its liabilities and allows preservation of capital. The 
Strategy adopted is expected to provide a long-term return outcome of 
CPI+2 %. The Society will have some exposure to foreign investments in 
order to provide diversification.

The Society has adopted the following long-term strategic asset 
allocation:

Asset Class % Allocation Allocation Limits (%)

Local Equities 14 0-21

Local Bonds 28 0-42

Local Cash 28    0-100

Foreign Equities 18  0-27

Foreign Bonds 12  0-18

In 2015, Alexander Forbes Asset Consultants was tasked with asset 
consultancy services of The Society’s investments within legislative 
requirements, in accordance with the investment mandate, and in the 
best interest of The Society.

Regulatory Compliance

The Non-Bank Financial Institutions Regulatory Authority Act of 2008 
provides for the regulation and supervision of Medical Aids by NBFIRA. 
Regulations and policy framework for medical aids is currently being 
developed by NBFIRA. The expectation is for these to be passed into law 
by Parliament in the near future.
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Stakeholder Engagement Seminars

Botswana Medical Aid Society (Bomaid) 
held a series of stakeholder engagements in 
Gaborone, Palapye, Francistown and Maun.  The 
purpose of these workshops is for Bomaid to 
create an interactive platform for its members 
and service providers across the country. These 
stakeholder engagements ran from May 2018 
until June 2018.

The engagements allow for dialogue amongst 
Bomaid stakeholders and for The Society to 
re-affirm the value proposition of the fund, 
allowing the executive management to unpack 
the 2018 key priorities and the direction which 
the fund is going; new developments regarding 
products and services, regulatory issues 
and challenges faced and solutions taken in 
response to such challenges.

Already in the fourth year, the seminars 
have proven to be a pivotal part in customer 
engagement and interaction for members as 
they provide an additional contact point. They 
are held at the beginning of the year in order 
to make members and medical practitioners 
aware of the year’s plans. 

Bomaid members and service providers alike 
have come to appreciate these face to face 
engagements as they create a more personal 
feel, especially for those that are not often 

able to interact with their medical aid due to 
distance.

In her address, the Bomaid Chief Operations 
Officer-Acting, Mrs Rudo Nthobatsang 
indicated that the need to interact with 
stakeholders is imperative to facilitate for the 
correct dissemination of relevant information 
about issues pertaining to communication, 
membership, subscriptions, rules and service 
provision. 

Moreover, these networks provide a platform 
for our stakeholders to offer input to Bomaid’s 
research and development processes aimed at 
improving its relevance to the members and 
overall service quality. 

Bomaid’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr Moraki 
Mokgosana in his address touched on the main 
2018 Society’s key priorities, which included 
but were not limited to; the development 
and enforcement of customer standards, 
procurement of the Fund Administration 
System, projects update which include the 
revamp and conversion of the Francistown 
Office to a branch.

He informed the stakeholders that through 
its efforts for improved processes, Bomaid is 
tightening controls in its administration and 
has improved its risk management and will 
not lose sight.

Stakeholder 
Engagements
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Bomaid Healthcare funding & Media 
Appreciation Workshop

Botswana Medical Aid Society (Bomaid) 
hosted a Media Seminar ‘Healthcare Funding 
in Botswana’ in Gaborone on the 16th of May 
2018. The seminar was aimed to engage the 
media in order to share the dynamics of the  
medical aid industry. Bomaid played host to 
an array of experts and stakeholders in order 
to allow discourse around the issues of health 
care funding. The main objective of the seminar 
was to empower media practitioners to report 
with an understanding of issues pertaining to 
the medical aid industry.

“This was an appropriate moment to bring 
together the media, the medical aid industry 
and other stakeholders to have a greater 
appreciation of the myriad of issues affecting 
the business of a medical aid fund.  From the 
simple perspective of benefit management to 
the complex matter of adhering to the emerging 
regulatory requirements, it is clear that there 
are a number of considerations that one needs 
to be aware of. It is our hope that by engaging 
like this, we will forge an understanding on 
which the media as stakeholders can relate 
to when dealing with health funding,” said the 
Bomaid Chief Executive Officer Mr. Moraki 
Mokgosana.

Dr Rajesh Patel, from Board of Healthcare 
Funders of Southern Africa, keynote was 
on National Health Insurance & Medical 
Fund Regulatory Framework. As part of his 
deliberation, he spoke about the philosophy 
behind the need for a national  health 
insurance, noting that “Universal health 
coverage is a social philosophy trying to equal 
the accessibility to health services through 

the National Health Insurance as the funding 
vehicle”. Dr Patel also explained that, as a 
consequence of the provision of a funding 
vehicle such as national health  insurance, there 
are bound to be implications for the medical aid 
industry to consider in their future in terms of 
their business model.

Bomaid also took the opportunity to launch ‘The 
Bomaid Fraud and Ethics Tip-Off line’ powered 
by Deloitte Tip-Offs Anonymous. The Tip Off 
line is in line with best practices to encourage 
the reporting of unethical  behavior. Brian Watts 
from Deloitte highlighted that a widely held 
view is that about 7% to 15% of most medical 
aid expenditure could be a result of fraudulent 
activities by members or providers. 

He added that, this in turn,  results in increases 
in monthly premium for members of medical 
aid. The Tip-Off line creates a platform where 
the public can raise concerns related to fraud, 
corruption or any other misconduct by Bomaid 
employees, business partners or any other third 
party dealing with The Society.

Bomaid remains the largest open medical aid 
fund in Botswana commanding 51% market 
share, with about 39,000 principal members 
and 85,000 total lives. The fund serves 
corporate and individual members with the 
most innovative and diverse products which 
are highly competitive and affordable to a wide 
spectrum of current and potential clientele.

Bomaid continues to enjoy steady growth of 
its membership base and places emphasis on 
going beyond being a health funder to being 
a health partner living up to its proposition of 
being ‘Your Companion for Healthier Happier 
Lives’.
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Botswana Medical Aid Society AGM

Botswana Medical Aid Society (Bomaid), held its 
47th Annual General Meeting (AGM) at Travel 
Lodge Gaborone on the 27th of June 2018. The 
purpose of the AGM was to update Bomaid 
members on The Society’s overall market 
performance for 2017 and to afford members 
an  interactive platform with its Board and other 
stakeholders.

Bomaid used this  opportunity to also 
acknowledge the changing  trends in the 
industry due to the sluggish economic situation, 
the rise in unemployment, the growing 
competition and regulations.  Despite these 
challenges however, The Society managed to 
stay ahead.

According to Bomaid Board Chairperson, Mr 
Ofentse Mabote, “all the vital performance 
indicators of The Society for the year ended 
are good. Despite the economic uncertainties, 
Bomaid will be able to sustain these good 
results into the  future. The main cost drivers, 
being claims and administration costs, did not 
grow at the same rate as the revenue,  resulting 
in a healthy operation surplus for the year”.

Adding to the Board Chairperson’s statement 
on The Society’s performance, Bomaid Principal 
Officer, Mr Moraki  Mokgosana, noted that, 
the return of the administration function back 
to Bomaid continued to yield positive results 
with group surplus up from P4.4m to P13.9m 
and scheme surplus showing an improvement 
from P1.1m to P11.3m. It was expected that 
the turnaround seen would continue and would 
impact positively on The Society’s performance 
in 2018 and beyond.

“It also goes without saying that the good 
results of 2017 are also an outcome of 
the commitment of Bomaid staff and the 
determined implementation of our 2017-2021 
strategic plan”, he said. Notwithstanding its 
good performance, Bomaid Management noted 
a disturbing rise in the number of fraudulent 
claims and incidences of benefit overuse, not 
just in Botswana but throughout the region. 
“We are putting measures in place to prevent 
these criminal practices from crippling the Fund. 
Interventions include technological, procedural 
and process enhancements, along with better 
staff training”, said the Board Chairperson.

T h e  B o a rd  a l s o  i n t ro d u c e d  a m e n d e d 
alterations, additions, rescissions in the Rules 
to the Membership. These were informed by 
the Fund’s performance over the past few 
years, the Fund’s 2017–2021 strategic plan 
and the impending regulation by Non-Bank 

Financial Institutions Regulatory Authority 
(NBFIRA). The following critical proposed  
amendments were presented:

• Re-definition of Overage Child Dependent 
(Ref. Rule 5 – Definitions)

• Claims Incurred Outside Botswana (Ref. 
Rule 16 (5) – Claims Procedure)

• Organ Transplants (Ref. Rule 15 (18) – 
Limitations)

• Dual Membership (Ref. Rule 6 – 
Membership)

• Late Joiner Penalty (Ref. Rule 13 – 
Subscriptions)

• Exclusions (Ref. Rule 15 (17))
• Current status on HIV/AIDS cover

Af t e r  d e l i b e r a t i o n s  o n  t h e  p ro p o s e d 
amendments, a resolution to approve them 
all was put to the meeting for voting by ballot. 
The majority of the members voted for all the 
proposed amendments and a resolution to pass 
the amendments was taken.

In his conclusion, Mr Mabote reiterated 
Bomaid’s promise and commitment of being 
‘Your Companion for Healthier Happier Lives’, 
to continue to provide excellent service and 
product offering to members.

“To you, our member, I reaffirm that without 
your continued confidence and loyal support 
our success would not be possible. I thank 
you and assure you that all our efforts are 
concentrated on safeguarding your health and 
the health and welfare of your family”.
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility
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Breast Cancer Awareness

October is Breast Cancer Awareness Month; a 
time to acknowledge the courageous battles of 
those who have fought breast  cancer, celebrate 
those who have survived and remember those 
who lost their battle. 

It  is also a t ime to be di l igent in self-
examinat ions,  schedule  mammogram 
appointments and remind others to do the 
same. Bomaid put together an internal and 
external event where members were reminded 
to take care of themselves to prevent cancer. 

REMEMBER EARLY DETECTION SAVES LIVES: 
ITSE MABELE A GAGO.
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Blood Drive: Supporting National Blood 
Transfusion Center

Bomaid partnered with National Blood 
Transfusion Center for a blood donation 
activation at  Bomaid premises on the 4th of 
December 2018.  Bomaid staff, members and 
the general public were  invited to donate blood. 
This was an effort by  Bomaid to answer the 
Ministry and Health and  Wellness call regarding 
blood shortage in the country.

Ms. Tumelo Ramalebang from National Blood 
Transfusion Center educated Bomaid staff on 
the importance of blood donation. She noted 
that as of the 4th of December 2018, there 
were less than 130 pints of blood in the bank, 
which services hospitals across the country. 
She urged the  attendants to donate blood.
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Inter Insurance Games

Bomaid participated in the Inter Insurance 
Games which were held at the Bank of 
Botswana grounds on the 22nd of September 
2018 in Gaborone. The games comprised of 
health and wellness organisations coming 
together in the spirit of team building. Bomaid 
staff won some of the games and brought 
prizes and a trophy home.
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Bomaid Adopts a School: Gosemama JSS

For the second consecutive year The Botswana 
Medical Aid Society (Bomaid), sponsored  
Gosemama’s Junior Secondary School prize 
giving ceremony. The ceremony was held on 
Friday the 5th of October 2018 at Goo-Tau and 
it was officiated by Permanent Secretary to the 
President, Mr. Carter Morupisi.

The gesture to sponsor is in appreciation of the 
school’s effort to excel across the education 
spectrum. It is worth noting that, amongst 
others, Bomaid strives to support entities that 
live up to values similar to it’s own. 

In this case it is ‘excellence’, which is a virtue 
that the school has embraced. The sponsorship 
is also an effort by Bomaid to carry out its 
mandate of being a caring corporate citizen by 
supporting one of the nation’s core pillars, ‘an 
educated and informed nation’.

During her opening remarks, the Head of 
School of Gosemama JSS Mrs Tebogo Mack, 
welcomed the guests and gave an overview of 
the school’s  good performance in academics, 
arts and sports. 

She further appealed to individuals and 
organisations to partner with their school to 
encourage and support their efforts in raising 
funds for school developments, academic 
performance and commended Bomaid and Mr 
Morupisi for the effort.

In his address, Mr. Carter Morupisi encouraged 
students to focus on their studies and 
excel, noting that he too came from humble 
beginnings and had to work his way up to 
be where he is today. He congratulated the 
students who have excelled in their vocations 
and encouraged those challenged to keep on 
trying and working hard to achieve desired 
results.

In closing, he commended the School Head 
and the teachers for the holistic approach in 
ensuring that students are encouraged to do 
well in all facets of education. He thanked the 
sponsors for supporting government efforts, 
notably Bomaid for the two years it has stood 
by the school in this honourable event.
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Principal
Officer’s 
Report

P552 M 

8.3% 

Benefits Paid Out 2018

Bomaid Society Revenue 2018
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Introduction
 
Despite a negative growth in the medical 
insurance sector, Bomaid ended the 2018 
financial year with an improved set of results. 
The execution of The Society’s strategy for the 
period to 2021 continued to enhance the well-
being of our members and support our vision to 
be their companion for healthier happier lives. 
 
Overview
 
The Society has made significant strides in 
the efforts towards accelerating growth over 
the strategic period. This requires being in 
a position to constantly reinvent ourselves. 
Key to this growth will also be adopting 
an innovative approach towards product 
development in order to support customer 
retention and acquisition initiatives. 

Importantly, we remain cognizant of the role of 
embracing innovative technological advances 
in our quest to transform The Society. It 
remains necessary for us to continue to scan 
the environment with the view to remain au 
fait with technological advances in healthcare 
insurance in order to remain relevant and 
appealing to our existing and prospective 
members. 
 
With the above in mind, a gap analysis was 
conducted and assisted in the identification of 
opportunities for automation of key processes 
critical to enhancing the customer experience. 
This process entailed a benchmarking with 
prevailing best practice from a regional and 
more global perspective. 

This culminated into a decision to replace 
our entire fund administration system – an 
important milestone towards supporting our 
strategic themes. I am delighted to report 
that the scoping was concluded in the year 
under review and the procurement of the 
state of the art IT system is under way with 
anticipated operational timelines projected 
no further than the 2019 financial year. This 
substantial investment has capacity to change 
the operational landscape of Bomaid with 
other expected benefits including tightening 
of controls, reduced financial exposure and 
improved employee productivity.
 
Member Focus
 
As the macro-economic factors that created 
difficult operating conditions in the prior year 
remain unabated, Bomaid is continuing on its 
drive to cleaning up its data with a view to be 
able to exploit the member data for artificial 
and business intelligence. This move, which is 

motivated by our vision, entails that we know 
our members, and understand their needs, for 
us to serve them exceedingly well to an extent 
of predicting healthy patterns, behavioural 
changes and have an impactful positive 
influence towards living healthier happier lives 
-  a major factor towards longevity. 

To this end, The Society is undergoing a 
paradigm shift from the industry conventional 
reactive approach to a proactive lifestyle based 
approach and, further, from a medical insurer to 
a companion for healthier happier lives. 
 
As dynamics are changing, our focus will be 
shifting from a hospital centric model to a 
primary care oriented one. Our priorities will 
continue to be biased towards achieving a 
balance between a sound financial balance 
sheet and a health balance sheet with a 
better understanding and management of our 
membership health profile. 

We remain committed to being a health 
solution provider determined to have a positive 
influence on the well-being and quality of the 
lives of our members year on year. To achieve 
our aspirations in this regard, we shall need not 
recognize the importance of our unprecedented 
history in the country and to be able to leverage 
on this to embrace big data and machine 
learning.
 
Over time, we have realized the significance of 
engaging with our members as their feedback 
remains invaluable and plays a pivotal role 
in revising our policies and rule book. We 
will continue to do so through customer 
satisfaction surveys, provider and members 
seminars and other surveys including the net 
promoter score. We acknowledge the wide 
spectrum of members that we have and, as 
such, we continue to strive to maintain the 
balance between their age and disease profiles 
so as to continue to meet their needs and 
maintain the sustainability of the fund. 
 
In order to enhance our visibility and customer 
experience, our Francistown and Maun offices 
will continue to be key contact points for our 
members in other major locations across the 
country that are in proximity to these offices. 
To this end, these facilities will continue to be 
adequately resourced and empowered.

Risk management
 
Like any other financial institution, Bomaid is 
not immune to fraudulent activities and our 
safeguards to this effect, and to curb waste and 
abuse, remain imperative. It is anticipated that 
the migration to the new fund administration 

system through Project Motswedi will go a long 
way in assisting in the tightening of controls 
and providing assistance with data analytics.  
  
The medical aid sector has been identified by 
The Regulator as one of the candidates for 
money laundering and, as a result, Bomaid 
is compelled to enhance the risk assessment 
procedures and internal controls as a response 
to the inherent assessed risk. 

Key to these will be the introduction of a 
number of measures to reduce the risk to 
an acceptable low level. This will include the 
development of policy framework for anti-
money laundering, countering of the financing 
of terrorism and enterprise risk management. 
It is worth noting that the Know Your Member 
(KYM) initiative will be an integral component 
of guarding against this risk at micro and 
macro levels. 
 
As part of our response to these threats, and in 
line with our strategic goals, in the year under 
review we added to our leadership team, a risk 
and compliance function.

Divestment and restructuring
 
Evidently The Society has continued to show 
improved performance emanating from the 
2016 fund administration restructuring and 
closure of Alpha Access effected in the prior 
year. Further improvements are anticipated 
against the backdrop of opportunities for 
continued cost efficiencies and application of 
cost cutting measures. 

Following the closure of Alpha Access, the 
disposal of the condom manufacturing plant 
is yet to be concluded with interest being 
noted from various parties in the region and 
in Asia. MRI will continue to be an asset held 
under SouthView and efforts will continue to 
optimize the return on this investment and to 
enhance its value. 

A critical consideration for the continuation 
of the investment will be the anticipated 
regulations and the provisions with regards to 
interest in provider partners. A strategy review 
process commenced for MRI late in 2018 and 
a new strategic roadmap will be expected to 
commence in 2019. 
 
Financial highlights 
 
In the year ended 31st December 2018, The 
Society’s revenue increased by 8.3%, from 
P603 million to P654 million. Benefits paid 
out increased by 7% from P517 million to P552 
million. This led to an 18.2% contribution surplus 
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of P101 million from BWP85 million in 2017. 
Despite modest member growth, the revenue 
improvements were driven by differential 
pricing initiatives. Cost improvements were 
driven by realized efficiencies for embedded 
funeral benefits, contained medical inflation 
a n d  co n t i n u i n g  i m p rove m e n t s  i n  t h e 
pharmaceutical benefits management.

As at the year end, cash and cash equivalents 
stood at P164 million compared to P66 million 
in the prior year. This includes cash and short 
term money investments with asset managers 
resulting from the l iquidated offshore 
investments as at the year end pending 
transfer. During the year, one of the fund 
managers was terminated following a period 
of sustained poor performance and the asset 
managers were reduced from three to two. 

B o m a i d  w i l l  co n t i n u e  t o  i m p rove  fo r 
opportunities to improve performance through 
better management of healthcare costs and 
non-healthcare costs and an improved control 
environment. Weaknesses in internal controls 
remain a serious concern that requires urgent 
and immediate action.

It is worth noting that adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 that had 
a mandatory effective date for annual periods 
beginning 1st January 2018 had some effects 
on our reported results. 

The standard introduced new requirements for 
the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities and this resulted 
in changes in our accounting policies and 
adjustments to amounts previously recognized 
in the financial statements. Consequently, 
the effect of changes in IFRS 9 at Group level 
amounted to BWP3.6 million in impairment 
measurement.  

Operational highlights
 
Following the business process re-engineering 
exercise in 2017, the objective of paying 85% 
of claims within 72 hours of receipt remains a 
goal that Bomaid is committed to. In addition 
to sustaining this, it is envisaged that Project 
Motswedi will result in other improvements 
in efficiencies which will result in improved 
turnarounds for processing of member 
applications, receipt of financial and benefit 
statements and query resolutions. Additionally, 
members are expected to be able to have 
the ability to self-service as a result of the 
introduction of mobile applications.

Pharmaceutical benefit management has been 
one of our success stories in that the current 

positive results are emanating from a process 
that was initiated 3 years back with greater 
emphasis on tightening of controls directly 
linked to pharmaceutical benefit management 
and the introduction of generic reference 
pricing. This process enabled the introduction 
of real time claims switching which allowed for 
immediate approval of pharmaceutical claims. 
It is envisaged that this benefit will ultimately 
extend to other practitioner groups.
  
Book of Rules
 
The Book of Rules is cardinal to The Society’s 
operations as it guides the execution of The 
Society’s mandate. To demonstrate this, an 
intensive review of the Book of Rules was 
conducted in response to member feedback, 
current trends in the market, issues of fraud, 
waste and abuse as well as aligning to 
regulatory requirements. 
 
In the revised approved Book of Rules, the 
following changes were approved by the 
general membership: Redefinition of the child 
dependent by increasing the dependent age 
from 21 years to 25 years and removing the 
restriction around the child dependent being a 
scholar. The period of registration for new born 
babies was increased from 48 hours to seven 
(7) calendar days. 

In order to improve universal access to 
treatment and by all members The Society 
withdrew the Rule that excluded hospital 
cover for all members who are not registered 
on the Bomaid HIV Assistance Program. The 
Society has also broadened coverage for organ 
transplants. The approved changes now include 
the following: liver, lung, pancreas and cornea. 
The cover will also assume costs of the recipient 
and the donor as per protocols that govern 
the benefit. 
 
In anticipation of compliance provisions, 
The Society will levy a late joiner penalty on 
subscriptions for all new members joining the 
Medical Aid Fund for the first time after the age 
of 34 years or after an extended period without 
medical aid. This Rule, however, does not apply 
to members transferring from one local medical 
aid to another. 

In its quest to mitigate risks associated with 
claims and admittance of members to The 
Society; measures have been put in place to 
conduct due diligence exercise on all claims 
for services received outside the country 
and registration of new members. The Rule 
that previously prescribed a viable claim, 
strictly, in a form of original paper invoice 
and receipt has been relaxed to accept email, 

faxed and scanned copies. A complete version 
of the revised Bomaid Book of Rules will be 
distributed to members by end of 2019
 
Challenges
 
Despite another year of improved results, The 
Society continues to operate in a tough and 
challenging environment. At macroeconomic 
level, it is apparent the economy is still strained 
as unemployment remains high.

Along with the closure of the Tati Nickel and 
BCL mines and the general reduction in the 
market size, this has a direct adverse effect on 
our growth strategy. Pressures on disposable 
household income has also imposed stunted 
membership growth as policies have lapsed 
due to non-payment as well as cancellation. 
 
The industry as well as The Society has not 
been immune to the ever increasing prevalence 
of non-communicable diseases. 
 
The Society will continue to monitor the 
developments with regards to the introduction 
of Universal Health Coverage in Botswana. As 
the government embraces this millennium 
development goal and continues on its quest 
to address health inequities, medical aid funds 
will face the challenge of remaining relevant 
to the 20% of the population that they cover.

Corporate Social Responsibility
 
CSR is an intrinsic part of ethos and operation of 
Bomaid. Out of the named corporate values and 
principles we will be acting for the greater good 
of society in an ethical manner while delivering 
on our mandate. Our employees are engaged 
in the CSR strategy and activities which are 
aligned to our vision and values. 

Our CSR priority areas are demonstrated 
through engagements with the Kidney 
Society, Cancer Association, sponsorship 
and participation in the Lady Khama Run 21 
marathon, as well as sponsoring of prize giving 
at Gosemama Junior Secondary School. Ideally 
we wish to participate in projects that talk to 
our values. We remain committed to dedicating 
some portion of our marketing spend towards 
the wellbeing of Batswana primarily to good 
health.

Outlook
 
We will remain committed to our strategic 
goals and initiatives that are work in progress. 
Implementation of the new innovative IT 
system will bring about better communication, 
better efficiencies, better turnaround times, 
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and members to be better informed, improved 
control environment, empower our partners, 
service providers, stakeholders and members. 
Our key focus is to continue putting our 
member at the centre of everything that we do.
 
Our customer service satisfaction survey that 
was conducted in the year under review was 
recently concluded and results are still being 
studied by Management and The Board. To 
this effect, we are obligated to devise an 
action plan as a response to the findings and 
recommendations and we will continue to 
react to the feedback we receive from our 
key stakeholders to enhance our value to our 
members.
 
Appreciation 
 
I would like to thank the Board of Trustees 
of The Society for the unwavering support, 
guidance, direction, vision and the strategic 
path they have set us out on. I wish to reassure 
the commitment of myself and my team to 
assisting in meeting the expectations of our 
members.
 
I would like to further thank the dedicated staff 
of Bomaid who I have the privilege of leading 
in this journey to be a trustworthy companion 
for healthier and happier lives.
 
Finally, my thanks go to our members. You 
have been very loyal and supportive through 
the history of Bomaid.

 

............................................................................
Moraki Mokgosana 
Bomaid Principal Officer
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Board of Trustees’ Responsibility Statement and Approval of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Society

The Board of Trustees (“the Board”) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
(“financial statements”) of Botswana Medical Aid Society (“the Society”), comprising the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2018, the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and in the manner required by the Society’s Rules and the Societies Act of Botswana. 

The Board is required by the Society’s Rules and the Societies Act of Botswana, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group and Society as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with IFRS. The independent auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 
financial statements.

The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The Board’s responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
these consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and in the manner required by the Society’s Rules and 
the Societies Act of Botswana and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates.

The Board’s responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting judgements and an effective system of risk management as well as the 
preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

The Board acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Society and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a 
clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Society’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the society. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavors to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures 
and constraints. 

The Board has made an assessment of the ability of the Society to continue as going concerns and have no reason to believe the businesses will not 
be going concerns in the year ahead. 

The independent auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the consolidated and Society’s financial statements. The 
financial statements have been examined by the independent auditors and their report is presented on pages 37 to 39.

Disclosure of audit information

Each of the Trustees at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

• in so far as the Trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Society’s auditor is unaware; and
• the Trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Trustee to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information 

and to establish that the Society’s auditor is aware of that information.

Approval of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the Society:

The consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 40 to 97, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the board of directors on 24 May 2019 and were signed on their behalf by:

.................................................................................                                                                                                    ....................................................................................................
Risk and Audit committee Chairperson                                                                                                          Board Chairperson

.................................................................................
Principal Officer

BOARD OF TRUSTEES RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BOTSWANA MEDICAL AID SOCIETY

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Botswana Medical Aid Society (“the Society”), and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
set out on pages 40 to 97 which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2018, consolidated and
separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated 
and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated and separate financial 
position of the Group and Society as at 31 December 2018 and of its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Society in accordance with the requirements of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Part A and B), together with other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Botswana, and we have fulfilled 
our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Outstanding claim provision (IBNR) (consolidated and separate)

The outstanding risk claims provision (“IBNR”) comprise provisions for the
Society’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but 
not yet reported at the reporting date. 

The determination of the IBNR requires the Society’s Trustees to make 
assumptions in the valuation thereof, which is determined with reference 
to an estimation of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but not 
yet reported at the Statement of Financial Position date. The Trustees 
make use of independent actuarial specialists for the estimation of the 
IBNR.

The IBNR calculation is based on the following of factors:
• Previous experience in claims
patterns.
• Claims settlement patterns.
• Changes in the nature and number of members according to gender 

and age.
• Trends in claims frequency.
• Changes in the claims processing cycle.
• Variations in the nature and average cost per claim.

Certain of the above-mentioned factors require judgement and 
assumptions to be made by the Society’s Trustees and therefore we 
identified the valuation of the IBNR as a key audit matter. 

The IBNR is disclosed in note 24.

In evaluating the valuation of the IBNR, we performed various procedures 
including the following:

• Testing the design and implementation of the Society’s controls relating 
to the preparation of the IBNR calculation.

• Testing the integrity of the information used in the calculation of the 
IBNR by performing substantive procedures.

• With the assistance of our internal actuarial specialists, we performed 
an independent calculation of the estimate of the provision using 
historical claims data and trends, and using this estimate as a basis of 
assessing the reasonableness of the Trustees estimate of the provision.

• Performing a retrospective review of the IBNR raised in the 2017 
financial year based on actual claims paid in 2018 to verify the 
assumptions applied to determine the IBNR are reasonable.

• Performing tests of detail on the current year IBNR including testing 
actual claims experienced subsequent to year end and to as close as 
possible to audit completion date.

• Assessing the presentation and disclosure in respect of the IBNR and 
considered whether the disclosures reflected the risks inherent in the 
accounting for the IBNR and the requirements of IFRS.

The assumptions applied in the IBNR are appropriate and we are satisfied 
that the movement of the IBNR in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income is appropriate. 

The disclosure of the IBNR provisions and related assumptions are 
appropriate.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BOTSWANA MEDICAL AID SOCIETY

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Impairment assessment of investments in subsidiaries (seperate)
The consideration of impairment for investment in subsidiaries, 
required focus in the current year due to the diminishing profitability 
of the operating subsidiaries in the current year. In the prior years, the 
subsidiaries were not profitable as well and an impairment assessment 
was performed resulting in the value of the investments being written 
down to the net asset value.

The uncertain circumstances, under which the subsidiaries are operating, 
create difficulties in determining the appropriateness of the assumptions 
such as growth rates used in the discounted cash flow model that is used 
to assess the potential impairment of these subsidiaries and therefore 
we identified the impairment assessment of investment in subsidiaries 
as a key audit matter. 

This consideration relates to separate financial statements. 

The investment in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 13.

In evaluating the impairment of investments in MRI Limited, we performed 
various procedures including the following:

• Testing the design and implementation of controls put in place by 
management to ensure investments in subsidiaries are carried at 
appropriate valuations.

• Critically evaluating the appropriateness of management’s assumptions 
and performing a sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used.

• Evaluating the cash flow projections used for valuation against the 
subsidiary’s most recent financial performance and considering the 
appropriateness of key inputs.

• Evaluating and challenging management on the long-term growth rates 
used to extrapolate the cash flows and the discount rates.

• Comparing these to available industry, economic and financial data, 
and to market outlook.

• Assessing the historical accuracy of management’s forecasts, and 
comparing current performance to forecasts.

• Testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models used.
• Analysing and comparing the carrying amount of the investments to the 

net asset value of the respective subsidiary as at 31 December 2018.
• Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures regarding the subsidiary in 

the financial statements to determine they are in accordance with IFRS.

The assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of MRI 
Limited are appropriate and we are satisfied that the carrying amount 
of investments in subsidiaries in the statement of financial position is 
appropriate. 

The related disclosure of the valuation of investment in subsidiaries and 
assumptions are appropriate.

Other Information

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Trustees’ Responsibility Statement and Approval of the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Trustees for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Society’s and Group ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees 
either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The Trustees are responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BOTSWANA MEDICAL AID SOCIETY 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Society’s or Group internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Trustees.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s or Group ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society or Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and 
separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Society and Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Trustees with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Trustees, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

Deloitte & Touche
Certified Auditors    
Practicing Member: F C Els (CAP 006 2019)             

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  (continued)

Gaborone
4 June 2019
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Consolidated Separate
Figures in Pula Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 53 128 330 55 390 672 24 253 903 25 052 266

Investments in subsidiaries 13 - - 16 212 265 19 340 925

Other financial assets 14 179 170 345 224 919 599 179 170 345 224 919 599

232 298 675 280 310 271 219 636 513 269 312 790
Current Assets
Inventories 15 4 124 048 4 520 531 - -

Trade and other receivables 16 18 927 366 22 837 090 11 122 030 12 675 881

Current tax receivable 297 084 658 112 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 17 173 156 538 77 338 305 164 668 946 66 750 493

196 505 036 105 354 038 175 790 976 79 426 374
Total Assets 428 803 711 385 664 309 395 427 489 348 739 164
Equity and Liabilities
Funds and Reserves
Low claim reserve 461 910 461 910 461 910 461 910

Property revaluation reserve 18 21 028 830 20 868 161 19 908 318 19 908 318

Financial assets revaluation reserves 19 166 649 359 170 940 646 166 649 358 170 940 646

Accumulated funds 125 535 065 97 110 674 118 182 093 93 042 726

Equity attributable to members of the society 313 675 164 289 381 391 305 201 679 284 353 600

Non-controlling interest 1 227 211 1 403 755 - -

314 902 375 290 785 146 305 201 679 284 353 600

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Property development loans 22 9 080 316 11 377 408 - -

Deferred tax 20 876 361 581 773 - -

9 956 677 11 959 181 - -
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 33 963 134 40 529 027 20 143 870 19 873 165

Current portion of finance lease obligations 21 - 84 371 - -

Current portion of property development loans 22 2 359 865 2 093 524 - -

Current tax payable - 138 956 - -

Subscriptions received in advance 23 79 517 793 370 79 517 793 370

Outstanding claims 24 67 542 143 39 280 734 70 002 423 43 719 029

103 944 659 82 919 982 90 225 810 64 385 564
Total Liabilities 113 901 336 94 879 163 90 225 810 64 385 564
Total Equity and Liabilities 428 803 711 385 664 309 395 427 489 348 739 164

Statements of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Consolidated Separate
Figures in Pula Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 708 499 318 650 430 646 653 626 343 603 453 549

708 499 318 650 430 646 653 626 343 603 453 549
Benefits paid 4 (488 695 300) (452 284 634) (552 340 165) (517 764 925)

Direct costs (99 183 824) (91 801 910) - -

(587 879 124) (544 086 544) (552 340 165) (517 764 925)
Contribution surplus 120 620 194 106 344 102 101 286 178 85 688 624

Expenditure

Impairment loss on financial assets (3 599 629) (8 361 700) (3 837 114) (6 506 503)

Depreciation of property plant and equipment (4 882 045) (4 567 610) (2 006 422) (1 734 983)

Administrative expenses (88 896 460) (85 587 651) (76 417 278) (73 081 884)

Operating surplus 5 23 242 060 7 827 141 19 025 364 4 365 254
Dividend and other income 6 9 474 995 5 998 999 8 398 017 5 141 427

Interest received 7 4 521 851 2 970 342 4 450 760 2 904 229

Finance costs 8 (899 297) (1 161 914) (1 450) (29 735)

Profit or (loss) on disposal financial assets (4 224 612) (1 096 321) (4 224 612) (1 096 321)

Surplus before taxation 32 114 997 14 538 248 27 648 079 11 284 854
Taxation 9 (41 646) (467 056) - -

Surplus from continuing operations 32 073 351 14 071 192 27 648 079 11 284 854

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations 10 - (81 700) - -

Surplus for the year 32 073 351 13 989 492 27 648 079 11 284 854

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent:
From continuing operations 32 071 836 13 910 834 27 648 079 11 284 854

From discontinued operations - (81 700) - -

32 071 836 13 829 134 27 648 079 11 284 854

Non-controlling interest:

From continuing operations 1 515 160 358 - -

Statements of Profit or Loss 
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Consolidated Separate

Figures in Pula Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Surplus for the year 32 073 351 13 989 492 27 648 079 11 284 854

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss:

Revaluation gains/(loss) on equity 
investments at FVTOCI

(5 552 933) - (5 552 933) -

Income tax relating to items that will not be
reclassified

170 924 147 827 - -

Total items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss

(5 382 009) 147 827 (5 552 933) -

Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:
Revaluation gains/(loss) on debt investments
at FVTOCI

1 164 201 - 1 164 201 -

Reclassification adjustment relating to
financial assets disposed during the year

97 445 395 505 97 445 395 505

Low claims reserve payments during the year - (4 250) - (4 250)

Total items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss

1 261 646 391 255 1 261 646 391 255

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year net of taxation

(4 120 363) 539 082 (4 291 287) 391 255

Total comprehensive income 27 952 988 14 528 574 23 356 792 11 676 109

Total comprehensive income attributable
to:

Owners of the parent 27 941 218 14 359 346 23 356 792 11 676 109

Non-controlling interest 11 770 169 228 - -

27 952 988 14 528 574 23 356 792 11 676 109

Statements of Other Comprehensive Income
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Figures in Pula Low claim
reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Financial 
asset

revaluation
reserve

Accumulated
funds

Total
attributable 

to
members

Non 
controlling

interest

Total

Consolidated
Balance at 01 January 2017 466 160 20 729 204 170 545 140 83 281 540 275 022 044 1 234 527 276 256 571

Surplus for the year - - - 13 829 134 13 829 134 160 358 13 989 492

Other comprehensive income/
(loss)

(4 250) 138 957 395 505 - 530 214 8 870 539 084

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year

(4 250) 138 957 395 505 13 829 134 14 359 346 169 228 14 528 574

Balance at 01 January 2018 461 910 20 868 161 170 940 646 97 110 674 289 381 391 1 403 755 290 785 146

Surplus for the year - - - 32 071 836 32 071 836 1 515 32 073 351

Other comprehensive income - 160 669 1 261 646 - 1 422 315 10 255 1 432 570

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

- 160 669 1 261 646 32 071 836 33 494 151 11 770 33 505 921

Effects on changes in accounting 
standards (IFRS 9)

- - - (3 647 445) (3 647 445) (188 314) (3 835 759)

Revaluation loss on equity 
investments at FVTOCI

- - (5 552 933) - (5 552 933) - (5 552 933)

Total contributions by and 
distributions recognised 
directly in equity

- - (5 552 933) (3 647 445) (9 200 378) (188 314) (9 388 692)

Balance at 31 December 2018 461 910 21 028 830 166 649 359 125 535 065 313 675 164 1 227 211 314 902 375

Statements of Changes in Equity 
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Figures in Pula Low claim
reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Financial asset
revaluation

reserve

Accumulated
funds

Total
attributable to

members

Total

Separate
Balance at 01 January 2017 466 160 19 908 318

 
170 545 140 81 757 872 272 677 490 272 677 490

Surplus for the year - - - 11 284 854 11 284 854 11 284 854

Other comprehensive loss (4 250) - 395 505 - 391 255 391 255

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year

(4 250) - 395 505 11 284 854 11 676 109 11 676 109

Balance at 01 January 2018 461 910 19 908 318 170 940 645 93 042 726 284 353 599 284 353 599

Surplus for the year - - - 27 648 079 27 648 079 27 648 079

Other comprehensive income - - 1 261 646 - 1 261 646 1 261 646

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

- - 1 261 646 27 648 079 28 909 725 28 909 725

Revaluation loss on equity 
investments at FVTOCI

- - (5 552 933) - (5 552 933) (5 552 933)

Effects on changes in accounting 
standards (IFRS 9)

- - - (2 508 712) (2 508 712) (2 508 712)

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners of 
company recognised directly 
in equity

- - (5 552 933) (2 508 712) (8 061 645) (8 061 645)

Balance at 31 December 2018 461 910 19 908 318 166 649 358 118 182 093 305 201 679 305 201 679

Statements of Changes in Equity 
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Consolidated Separate

Figures in Pula Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus before taxation 32 114 997 14 538 248 27 648 079 11 284 854

Deficit before tax from discontinued operations - (81 700) - -

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 882 045 4 567 610 2 006 422 1 734 983

Loss/(profit) on disposal of plant and equipment (37 088) (341 472) 44 496 (166 504)

Loss on sale of financial assets 4 224 612 1 096 321 4 224 612 1 096 321

Dividends received (3 419 380) (3 036 743) (3 419 380) (3 036 744)

Interest received (4 521 851) (2 970 342) (4 450 760) (2 904 229)

Finance costs 899 297 1 161 914 1 450 29 735

Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary 76 324 - 3 204 984 -

Changes in working capital:
Inventories 396 483 (1 913 943) - -

Trade and other receivables 497 830 (7 985 539) (954 861) (1 240 650)

Trade and other payables (6 565 893) 7 189 016 270 705 2 853 754

Subscriptions received in advance (713 853) 283 476 (713 853) 283 476

Outstanding claims 28 261 409 (10 078 220) 26 283 394 (13 503 281)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 56 094 932 2 428 626 54 145 288 (3 568 285)
Finance costs (899 297) (1 161 914) (1 450) (29 735)

Tax received/(paid) 222 072 1 074 433 - -

Net cash flows from discontinued operations - (457 392) - -

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

55 417 707 1 883 753 54 143 838 (3 598 020)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (3 116 988) (2 394 334) (1 336 288) (919 264)

Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 12 534 373 341 472 83 733 166 504

Net movements in disposal of financial assets 37 233 355 10 385 454 37 233 355 10 385 453

Movements in investments in subsidiary (76 324) - (76 324) -

Net cash flows of discontinued operations - 190 329 - -

Interest Income 4 521 851 2 970 342 4 450 760 2 904 229

Dividends received 3 419 380 3 036 743 3 419 380 3 036 744

Net cash generated from in investing
activities

42 515 647 14 530 006 43 774 616 15 573 666

Cash flows from financing activities
Benefits paid through low claim reserve - (4 250) - (4 250)

Capital repayment of borrowings property loan (2 030 751) (1 857 314) - -

Finance lease payments (84 371) (274 227) - -

Net cash used in financing activities (2 115 122) (2 135 791) - (4 250)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 95 818 232 14 277 968 97 918 454 11 971 396
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 77 338 305 63 060 337 66 750 492 54 779 096

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 173 156 537 77 338 305 164 668 946 66 750 492

Statements of Cash Flows
as at 31 December 2018

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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1. General information

Botswana Medical Aid Society is a medical aid fund registered in Botswana under the Societies Act. These consolidated and separate financial 
statements represent its statutory financial statements. The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated financial position and 
results of the Society and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The accounting policies below apply to both the consolidated and 
separate financial statements.

1.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in 
the manner required by the Society’s Rules and the Societies Act of Botswana.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula, which is also the functional currency. 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and leasehold land and buildings which 
are stated at fair value. The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and are consistent with those used in the previous year. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the 
estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

Significant judgements in the application of International Financial Reporting Standards consist mainly of the evaluation of the carrying amount of 
the investment in subsidiaries for possible impairment (per note 13), the assessment of residual values and depreciation rates applied to property, 
plant and equipment items (per note 12), the revaluation of leasehold land and buildings, (per note 12) the evaluation of trade and other receivables 
for possible impairment (per note 16) and calculating the provision for outstanding claims (per note 24).

1.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Society and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the 
Society and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Society:
• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Society reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control listed above.

When the Society has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to 
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Society considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether or not the Society’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
• the size of the Society’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
• potential voting rights held by the Society, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Society has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the 

time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous Members’ meetings

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Society obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Society loses control of the subsidiary. 
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Society gains control until the date when the Society ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Society and to the non-controlling interests. 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Society and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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1.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. 

All intra Group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation.

1.4 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are measured, at initial recognition, as the non-controlling proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised 
at acquisition. After initial recognition, non-controlling interests are measured as the aggregate of the value at initial recognition and their subsequent 
proportionate share of profits and losses.

1.5 Interests in subsidiaries

In the Society’s separate consolidated and separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
• the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred, and equity instruments issued by the Society; and
• any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are expected to be used 
for more than one period. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where 
appropriate. 

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at valuation on the basis of the most recently established open market values with current additions measured 
at cost. Valuations are obtained from professional independent third parties with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would have been determined using fair value at the reporting date. The Group currently obtains valuations of leasehold 
land and buildings every five years.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under 
the heading of properties revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying 
amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the 
properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s 
carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 
economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives 
and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of 
an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised. 

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Leasehold land and buildings Straight line Remaining period of lease

Plant and machinery Straight line 10 years

Furniture and equipment Straight line 4 - 10 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 4 years

Office equipment Straight line 4 - 10 years

IT equipment Straight line 4 years

Leasehold improvements Straight line 5 years
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1.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Work-in-progress includes the costs of materials, labour and other costs incurred in the construction of work-in-progress at reporting date. Work-
in-progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment when the assets are completed and commissioned. Work-in-progress is not depreciated 
and depreciation will commence at the earliest of when the asset is available for use or when the asset is commissioned.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. 

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use 
or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying values of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating 
unit is the smallest identifiable asset Group that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or asset 
groups. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in the prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indication that these losses have decreased or no longer 
exist. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
and amortisation, if no impairment was recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

The cost of inventories is calculated on the first-in-first-out basis and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them 
to their existing location and condition. Obsolete, redundant and slow moving inventories are identified on a regular basis and are written down to 
their estimated net realisable values.

1.9 Tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax assets and liabilities 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities  (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests 
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset 
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement 
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit and loss, except when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income, in which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. 
In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or in determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest 
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the 
same or a different period, to other comprehensive income. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, directly in equity. 

The Society is not subject to taxation as it is exempt from taxation in terms of the second schedule of the Botswana Income Tax Act (Chapter 52:01).

1.10 Low claim reserve

The Group rewards members who make low or no claims. The reward is comprised of increased claim limits. Where necessary, a transfer is made 
each year from the operating surplus to the low claims reserve and costs of the increased limits are charged to the reserve. The reserve is however 
available for other purposes as may be determined by the Board of Trustees and members.

1.11 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The Group has defined contribution pension schemes which are funded through payments to a pension scheme. A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions 
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the current and prior periods. Contributions to 
an approved defined contribution pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the year to which these costs relate. 

Employees who are not members of these approved pension funds and are not entitled to gratuities per their employment contracts, are entitled to 
severance benefits as regulated by the Labour Act applicable in Botswana. 

Employee entitlements to annual leave, bonuses, medical aid, pension contributions and housing benefits are recognised when they accrue to employees 
and an accrual is recognised for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

1.12 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statements of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation. 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of  interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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1.12 Leases (continued)

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

1.13 Borrowing costs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 
ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. 
Finance costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

1.14 Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised in the statements of financial position when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:
• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:

• the business or part of a business concerned;
• the principal locations affected;
• the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for terminating their services;
• the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
• when the plan will be implemented.

• has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main 
features to those affected by it.

1.15 Outstanding claims

This provision, known as the outstanding claims provision, is determined by way of statistically sound analyses of a number of factors, which include 
previous experience in claim patterns, claim settlement patterns, changes in the number of members according to gender and age, trends in claim 
frequency, changes in the claims processing cycle, and variations in the nature and average cost incurred per claim. The provision is net of estimated 
recoveries from members for co-payments. The actuaries follow a standard operating procedure governing the calculation of the provision as agreed 
with the Society to ensure consistency in application and interpretation of results. The Society does not discount its outstanding claims provision since 
the effect of the time value of money is not considered material. The adequacy of the provision is assessed on a monthly basis, through reviews of past 
experience and consideration of changes in fundamentals such as claims processing and composition. Furthermore, the Society has standardised the 
provision calculation methodology and any deviation to this is adequately supported. The estimation of the provision gives an indication of whether 
the Society would have adequate assets to cover the potential liability from the Society contracts, as required by accounting policy. The Society has 
sufficient assets to cover any potential liability from insurance contracts as the cash and cash equivalents at year end cover the outstanding claims 
provision more than three times.

Each notified claim is assessed on a separate, case by case basis with due regard to the claim circumstances, information available from managed 
care organisations and historical evidence of the quantum of similar claims. The provisions are based on information currently available. However, 
the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments. The impact of many of the items affecting the ultimate cost of the loss is 
difficult to estimate. The provision estimation also accommodates the processing and adjudication of different categories of claims (i.e. in hospital, 
chronic and above threshold benefits). This is caused by differences in the underlying insurance contract, claim complexity, the volume of claims, the 
individual severity of claims, the determination of the occurrence date of a claim, and reporting lags. 

Members must submit all claims for payment within four months of seeking medical treatment (i.e. the date of service). The cost of outstanding claims 
at the reporting date is estimated with reference to the actual claims submitted within the first three months after the reporting date that relates to 
the period before the reporting date. The claims to be submitted in the fourth month, relating to the reporting period, are then extrapolated using the 
chain ladder, method. The chain ladder is the most popular approach for calculating IBNR reserves for medical schemes. This method was originally 
developed for insurance losses where the period from occurrence to settlement was measured in years. The method has been adapted by medical 
schemes by using monthly claim development factors rather than annual development factors.
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1.16 Revenue

Revenue is recognised over time or at a specific point in time depending on the nature of the performance obligations embedded in the contract. 
Revenue recognition follows a five step model framework model listed below:

Step1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Subscriptions represent the gross subscriptions per the registered rules. The earned portion of subscriptions received is recognised as revenue. 
Subscriptions are earned from the date of attachment of risk, over the indemnity period on a straight line basis. Subscriptions are presented before 
the deduction of service fees and other acquisition costs. 

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group 
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services.

Nature of products and services and timing of revenue recognition

The Group sells medical drugs and provides medical services, training and call centre services. Medical and call centre services are provided on a fixed 
term contract basis and are typically billed ratably over the term of the contract. 

Revenue from the sale of drugs is recognised at a specific point in time while revenue from all other services is recognised over time. The adoption of 
IFRS 15 has not resulted in a change in the pattern of revenue recognition.

The timing of revenue recognition often differs from contract payment schedules, resulting in revenue that has been earned but not billed. These 
amounts are included in unbilled receivables also known as contract assets. Amounts billed in accordance with customer contracts, but not yet earned, 
are recorded and presented as part of deferred revenue also known as contract liability.

Significant judgments and estimates

Contracts with customers often include promises to deliver multiple products and services. Determining whether such bundled products and services 
are considered i) distinct performance obligations that should be separately recognized, or ii) non distinct and therefore should be combined with another 
good or service and recognized as a combined unit of accounting may require significant judgment. In general, the Group’s goods and professional 
services are capable of being distinct as they could be performed by third party service providers and do not involve significant customization.

1.17 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of each individual entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) 
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

1.18 Financial instruments

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount 
and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and 
points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. 
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1.18 Financial instruments (continued)

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to 
reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets and recognised on an accrual basis.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. At initial 
recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset 
or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit 
or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit 
or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Group recognises the difference as follows:

1. When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation 
technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

2. In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either 
amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised 
through settlement.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
• Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans, government and 
corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i)  the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and
(ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost:

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), 
and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss 
allowance recognised and measured using the simplified expected loss model. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and 
similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.
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1.18 Financial instruments (continued) 

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements 
in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains 
and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Net Investment income’. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss:

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented 
in the profit or loss statement within ‘Net trading income’ in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated 
at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately in ‘Net investment income’. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Business model:

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to 
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If 
neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business 
model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on 
how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks 
are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated. For example, the liquidity portfolio of assets, which is held by the Group as part of 
liquidity management and is generally classified within the hold to collect and sell business model. Securities held for trading are held principally for 
the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities are classified in the ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL.

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI):

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether 
the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the Group 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual 
terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes place 
from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual 
obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares. 

The Group has irrevocably designated all equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income with gains and losses reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income as other comprehensive income under the heading ‘’Will not be reclassified to profit or loss’’.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the period in which the dividends are declared. 
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1.18 Financial instruments (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at 
FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime expected credit loss for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The expected credit losses on 
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime expected credit loss when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures 
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit loss.

Lifetime expected credit loss represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. In contrast, 12 month expected credit loss represents the portion of lifetime expected credit loss that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of 
an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Claims incurred

Claims incurred comprise the total estimated cost of all claims (including claim handling costs) arising from healthcare events that have occurred in 
the year and for which the Society is responsible in terms of its registered rules, whether or not reported by the end of the year.
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1.18 Financial instruments (continued) 

Net claims incurred comprise of the following:

• Claims submitted and accrued for services rendered during the year, net of discounts received, recoveries from members for co-payments and 
personal medical savings accounts;

• Movements in the outstanding claims provision.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

1.19 Related party transactions

Related parties are defined as those parties that:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries:

• control, are controlled by, or are under common control with, the entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);  
• have an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the entity; or

(b) are members of the key management personnel of the entity or its parent including close members of the family.

1.20 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in 
its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 
one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

A non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal Group classified as held for sale.

1.21 Profit or loss from discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale. Profit or loss from discontinued 
operations comprises the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and the post-tax gain or loss resulting from the measurement and disposal 
of assets classified as held for sale (see also Notes 10).

1.22 Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the Trustees have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. The estimates of useful lives as 
translated into depreciation rates are detailed in property, plant and equipment policy in the financial statements. These rates and residual lives of 
the assets are reviewed annually taking cognisance of the forecasted commercial and economic realities.

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt instruments measured at FVTOCI 
is an area that requires the use of models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of 
customers defaulting and the resulting losses). A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for 
measuring expected credit loss (ECL), such as:
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1.22 Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Other financial assets

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock

An allowance to write down stock to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management has made estimates on the selling price and direct costs 
to sell on certain inventory items.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market 
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current mid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety 
of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair 
value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing for investments in subsidiaries

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in use calculations and 
fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the cash flows assumption 
may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets. 

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. 
If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected 
future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and 
the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the 
ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Revaluation of leasehold land and buildings

The fair value of leasehold land and buildings was determined based on the market comparable approach that reflect recent transaction prices for 
similar properties. The Trustees utilise independent professional valuers to minimise the level of estimation uncertainty.

Determining whether the Society has control over subsidiaries

The Group holds 100% of the ordinary shares and voting rights in Southview (Proprietary) Limited. 
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1.22 Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The Trustees have assessed their involvement in Southview (Proprietary) Limited and MRI in accordance with IFRS 10’s revised control definition and 
guidance. The Trustees have concluded that the Society has outright control in the decision making of these entities. In making its judgement, the 
Trustees considered the Group’s voting rights. Recent experience demonstrates the Group is not prevented from exercising its ability to direct the 
relevant activities of Southview (Proprietary) Limited.
 
Provisions

Provisions are raised and management determines an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of these estimates of 
provisions are included in note 24- Provisions.

Outstanding claims provision

This provision has been calculated on the standard operating procedure as agreed between the Society and its actuaries. The assumptions that have 
the greatest effect on the measurement of the outstanding claims provision are the expected claims development for the most recent benefit months 
for the day-to-day, in hospital, acute and chronic benefit categories of claims.

There is some estimation uncertainty that has to be considered in the provision for the estimate of the liability arising from outstanding claims i.e. 
the cost of healthcare benefits that have occurred before the end of the accounting period but have not been reported to the Society by that date. 
Sources of unreported claim payments include:

• Unknown and hence unreported claims; and
• Closed claims that later become reopened and have additional payments made.

If no or insufficient allowance is made for these claims, the result is that the Scheme is likely to hold insufficient funds aside for paying claims. This in 
turn impacts the Society’s cash flow and ability to honour claims. The Society does not discount its outstanding claims provision as the effect of the 
time value of money is not considered material.

1.23 Claims incurred

Claims incurred comprise the total estimated cost of all claims (including claim handling costs) arising from healthcare events that have occurred in 
the year and for which the Society is responsible in terms of its registered rules, whether or not reported by the end of the year.

Net claims incurred comprise of the following:

• Claims submitted and accrued for services rendered during the year, net of discounts received, recoveries from members for co-payments and 
personal medical savings accounts;

• Movements in the outstanding claims provision.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations 

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are 
relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property

The amendment deals specifically with circumstances under which property must be transferred to or from investment property. The amendment 
requires that a change in use of property only occurs when the property first meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and that 
there is evidence of a change in use. The amendment specifies that a change in management’s intentions for use of the property, do not, in isolation, 
provide evidence of a change in use.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2018 consolidated and separate financial statements.

The ammendment had no impact.

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

The amendment specifies the treatment of vesting and non-vesting conditions with regards to cash-settled share-based payment transactions. The 
treatment is essentially similar to the treatment of such conditions for equity-settled share-based payment transactions. That is, non-market vesting 
conditions are taken into consideration when estimating the number of awards which are expected to vest (and which ultimately vest), while market 
conditions and other non-vesting conditions are taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the share based payment liability, both 
initially and subsequently.

The amendment also provides for share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations. Essentially, where 
the entity is required to withhold part of the equity instruments equal to the tax obligation, the entity is required to account for the payment to tax 
authorities as a reduction in equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments withheld at net settlement 
date. The entity should also disclose the amount that it expects to transfer to tax authorities in terms of such transactions. 

The amendment further provides guidance in terms of modifications which convert cash-settled share-based payment transactions to equity -settled 
share-based payment transactions. For such modifications, the equity-settled share based payment transaction is measured by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted at modification date, to the extent to which goods or services have been received. The liability for cash-settled 
share based payment transactions is derecognised on the modification date. Any difference between the two is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2018 consolidated and separate financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a transition date of 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies 
and adjustments to the amounts previously recognised in the financial statements. The Group did not early adopt any of IFRS 9 in previous periods.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts 
of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening accumulated funds. The Group does not hedge its financial 
risks and therefore hedge accounting is not relevant. 

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also been applied to the current period. The comparative 
period notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the prior period.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in our accounting policies for recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure 

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Group. Further details of the specific IFRS 9 accounting policies 
applied in the current period (as well the previous IAS 39 accounting policies applied in the comparative period) are disclosed in more detail below:
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments - Consolidated

There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial 
assets in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 are compared as follows:

Figures in Pula
IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Assets Measurement Category Carrying Amount Measurement Category Carrying Amount
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost (Loan and receivables) 77 338 305 Amortised cost 77 338 305

Trade and other Receivables Amortised cost (Loan and receivables) 22 837 090 Amortised cost 19 425 277

Onshore equity investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 78 982 133 FVTOCI (Designated) 78 982 133

Offshore equity investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 37 963 300 FVTOCI (Designated) 37 963 300

Onshore bond investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 69 356 807 FVTOCI (Mandatory) 69 356 807

Offshore bond investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 6 299 877 FVTOCI (Mandatory) 6 299 877

Offshore unitised fund 
investments

Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 32 317 483 FVTOCI (Designated) 32 317 483

325 094 995 321 683 182

Classification and measurement of financial instruments - Separate

There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial 
assets in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 are compared as follows:

Figures in Pula
IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Assets Measurement Category Carrying Amount Measurement Category Carrying Amount
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost (Loan and receivables) 66 750 493 Amortised cost 66 750 493

Trade and other Receivables Amortised cost (Loan and receivables) 12 675 880 Amortised cost 10 167 168

Onshore equity investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 78 982 133 FVTOCI (Designated) 78 982 133

Offshore equity investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 37 963 300 FVTOCI (Designated) 37 963 300

Onshore bond investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 69 356 807 FVTOCI (Mandatory) 69 356 807

Offshore bond investments Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 6 299 877 FVTOCI (Mandatory) 6 299 877

Offshore unitised fund 
investments

Available-for- Sale (Mandatory) 32 317 483 FVTOCI (Designated) 32 317 483

304 345 973 301 837 261
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Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

b) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 – Consolidated

The Group performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets and analysis of their cash flow characteristics. The 
following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets, from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new 
measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

Figures in Pula

Financial Asset Ref IAS 39 carrying 
Amount 31 

December 2017

Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9 carrying 
Amount 1 January 

2018

Cash and cash equivalent
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

A 77 338 305 - - 77 338 305

Trade and other receivables
Opening balance under IAS 
39 Remeasurement: ECL 
allowance Closing balance 
under IFRS 9

B 22 837 089

-
-

-

-
-

-

(3 411 812)
- 19 425 277

Onshore equity investments
Opening balance under IAS 39 
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

C 78 982 133 - - 78 982 133

Offshore equity investments 
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

D 37 963 300 - - 37 963 300

Onshore bond investments 
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under IFRS 
9 Offshore bond investments

E 69 356 807 - - 69 356 807

Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

F 6 299 877 - - 6 299 877

Offshore unitised fund 
investments 
Closing balance under IFRS 9

G 32 317 483 - - 32 317 483

Total 325 094 994 - (3 411 812) 321 683 182



63

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

16  Stakeholder Engagements           20  Corporate Social Responsibility          26 Principal Officer’s Report          35  Financial Statements    

2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 – Separate

The Group performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets and analysis of their cash flow characteristics. The 
following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets, from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new 
measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018:

Figures in Pula

Financial Asset Ref IAS 39 carrying 
Amount 31 

December 2017

Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9 carrying
Amount 1 January 

2018

Cash and cash equivalent
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

A 66 750 493 - - 66 750 493

Trade and other receivables
Opening balance under IAS 
39 Remeasurement: ECL 
allowance Closing balance 
under IFRS 9

B 12 675 880

-
-

-

-
-

-

(2 508 712)
- 10 167 168

Onshore equity investments
Opening balance under IAS 39 
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

C 78 982 133 - - 78 982 133

Offshore equity investments 
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

D 37 963 300 - - 37 963 300

Onshore bond investments 
Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9 
Offshore bond investments

E 69 356 807 - - 69 356 807

Opening balance under IAS 39
and closing balance under 
IFRS 9

F 6 299 877 - - 6 299 877

Offshore unitised fund 
investments 
Closing balance under IFRS 9

G 32 317 483 - - 32 317 483

Total 304 345 973 - (2 508 712) 301 837 261

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

The following explains how applying the new classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 led to changes in classification and measurement 
of certain financial assets held by the Group as shown in the table above:

Area and Impact of adopting IFRS 9: Financial Instruments – Recognition & Measurement [Classification & Measurement impact 
explained as at 1 January resulting from adoption of IFRS 9]

Ref

Cash & cash equivalent:
This financial asset class is classified as loans & receivables and measured at amortised cost under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, these assets 
will continue to be measured at amortised cost because they satisfy the solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and business 
model tests for classification as amortised cost. Cash & cash equivalent are subject to impairment under both IAS 39 and IFRS 9. As 
at 1 January 2018, the impairment provision under IAS 39 was nil as there was no objective evidence of impairment. 

The Group has elected to the apply the simplified approach for impairment of cash & cash equivalent since the lifespan of these 
securities is less than 12 months. The Group has adopted the provision matrix contained in implementation guidance to IFRS 9 as 
its impairment methodology. 

Historical default rates on deposits held by banks is nil. Our review of forward looking macro-economic factors does not suggest possible 
defaults on bank deposits and consequently no provision has resulted from the adoption of IFRS 9 on the date of initial application 
(1st January 2018).The Group does not wish to rebut the presumption that debt is deemed to be in default if it is 90 days past due.

A

Trade & Other Receivables:
This account largely comprise of outstanding subscriptions and various receivables owed to subsidiaries by third parties. On the 
basis of historical default rates, coupled with forward looking macro-economic indicators relevant to the credit risk profiles of the 
Group’s receivables, the Group has made reasonable provisions across the provision matrix. B

Onshore equity investments:
This asset class is held primarily for long term gain. The investment was classified as Available for sale and measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the investment has been designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income because the Group has made an irrevocable election on transition date. Consequently, the investment shall 
continue to be measured at fair value with no recycling of gain as previously accounted for. This asset class is not subject to impairment 
provisions of IFRS 9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by IFRS 9 from the perspective of both reclassification and 
measurement.

C

Offshore equities investments:
This asset class is held primarily for long term gain. The investment was classified as Available for sale and measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the investment has been designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income because the Group has made an irrevocable election on transition date. Consequently, the investment shall 
continue to be measured at fair value with no recycling of gain as previously accounted for. This asset class is not subject to impairment 
provisions of IFRS 9 and therefore the carrying amount is not impacted by IFRS 9 from the perspective of both reclassification and 
measurement.

D

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements



65

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

16  Stakeholder Engagements           20  Corporate Social Responsibility          26 Principal Officer’s Report          35  Financial Statements    

2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Area and Impact of adopting IFRS 9: Financial Instruments – Recognition & Measurement [Classification & Measurement impact 
explained as at 1 January resulting from adoption of IFRS 9] Ref
Onshore bond investments:
This asset class is held primarily to generate both short and long term gains. The investment was classified as available for sale under 
IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 the investment shall be measured at fair value on the statement of financial position while adopting a mixed 
measurement of amortised cost and fair value on the statement of comprehensive income. The mixed measurement approach for debts
instruments classified as FVTOCI involves measuring the bonds at both amortised cost and fair value. The difference between fair 
value and amortised cost represents the cumulative fair value movement (fair value reserve). The fair value movement (gain or 
loss) for the year is reported in the statement of comprehensive income as Other comprehensive income under the heading “will be 
reclassified to profit or loss’’.

The effective interest from the amortiesd cost portion of the bond is reported in profit or loss account. The bond portfolio held by the 
Group comprise of par bonds whose coupon rates are substantially equal the effective interest. Transaction costs on acquisition of 
bonds are deemed to be extremely immaterial and therefore expensed when incurred. Consequently, the effective interest rate for 
bonds acquired at par is equal to the coupon rate.

For bonds denominated in foreign currency, any movement in the value of the bond attributed to foreign exchange differences are 
reported in the profit or loss in line with IAS 21 Effects of Exchange Rates. 

The impairment provisions of IFRS 9 shall be applied to bonds measured at FVTOCI. The three stage expected credit loss model shall 
be used to determine the amount of impairment losses. The expected loss will be measured as follows: probability of default x loss 
rate given default x exposure at default. On the basis of the three stage impairment model, the Group has classified all bonds as 
stage 1 because there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial origination of the bonds. The group does not wish 
to rebut the following provisions of IFRS 9:

• 30 days past due is considered to result in significant increase in credit risk
• 90 days past due is considered a default and consequently the asset is said to be impaired.

On transition date 1 January 2018 and at the year end 31 December 2018, the entire bond portfolio for the group was allocated to 
stage 1 because there was no significant increase in credit risk as defined in the standard. The entire bond portfolio is considered 
to be low credit risk on the basis of the bond ratings of the issuer and the instrument itself. The historical probability of default for 
all bond issuers is zero. Forward looking Macro-economic fundamentals at country level coupled with entity specific factors do not 
suggest that the bond issuers will default over the next 12 months.

The impairment provision for debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is therefore nil (zero) on 
transition date and at the year end because the probability of default at stage 1 being the only stage allocated with assets is zero. 
The probability of default is zero because credit risk has not increased significantly from origination date and this is supported by the 
credit risk profile of the bond portfolio sitting at between AAA and B-.

Estimation of the loss rate given default considers the nature of collateral and applies appropriate haircuts.

E

Determining probability of default

S&P credit rating grades Description of the grade Realised Probability of Default range (%) over 
prior 24 months as at 31 December 2018

AAA to A- Investment grade 0% + 0% Forward looking (nil)

BBB+ to BB- Standard monitoring 0% + 0% Forward looking (nil)

B+ to B- Standard monitoring 0% + 0% Forward looking (nil)

CCC+ Special monitoring 0% + 8% Forward looking (8%)

CCC to CC- Special monitoring 0% +10% Forward looking (10%)

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Area and Impact of adopting IFRS 9: Financial Instruments – Recognition & Measurement [Classification & Measurement impact 
explained as at 1 January resulting from adoption of IFRS 9] Ref

Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarised below:

• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously 
monitored by the Group.

• If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but 
is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’.
• Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their expected credit loss (ECL) measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime 

expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their 
ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

• A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward looking information about expected 
macro-economic variables such as interest rates, GDP, property indices and unemployment rates etc.

• Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. 
Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3). 

Transfer Criteria 

The group has adopted the following criteria to trigger movements between stages.

Trigger for transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 can include

• Changes in general economic and/or market conditions
• Expected or potential breaches of covenants
• Expected delay in payments – actual delinquency in payments is too late
• Rebuttable assumption: credit risk has increased significantly when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due

Trigger for transfers from stage 2 to stage 3 can include

• Actual breach of contract (e.g. default or delinquency in payments)
• Granting of concession to the borrower due to the borrower’s financial difficulty
• Probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization
• Rebuttable assumption: A default occurs when amounts are later than 90 days past due (unless there is other reasonable and 

supportable information to indicate a more lagging default criterion is appropriate)

Triggers for transfers from stage 3 to 2 and from 2 to 1

• Bonds shall be moved from stage 3 to stage 2 upon good two(2) next consecutive scheduled payments
• Bonds shall be moved from stage 2 to stage 1 upon making good two(2) next consecutive scheduled payments

E

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

c) Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 – Consolidated

The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39 incurred loss model to the new 
impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018:

Measurement Category Loss
allowance

under IAS 39

Reclassifications Remeasurements Loss
allowance

under IFRS 9

Loans and receivables 
(IAS 39)/Financial assets 
at amortised cost (IFRS 9)

Trade and other receivables (11 150 913) - (3 411 812) (14 562 725)

Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 - Separate

The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39 incurred loss model to the new 
impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018:

Measurement Category Loss
allowance
under IAS 39

Reclassifications Remeasurements Loss
allowance
under IFRS 9

Loans and receivables 
(IAS 39)/Financial assets 
at amortised cost (IFRS 9)

Trade and other receivables (8 269 932) - (2 508 712) (10 778 644)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Effective January 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect of adopting this standard recognized on 
January 1, 2018, the date of initial application. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been restated. It remains as previously reported 
under IAS 18 and related interpretations.

Adoption of IFRS 15 has not impacted the accounting for the Group’s products and services.

In its adoption of IFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the requirements of the new standard only to contracts that are incomplete at the date of 
initial application.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the group’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019 or later periods:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

If a parent loses control of a subsidiary which does not contain a business, as a result of a transaction with an associate or joint venture, then the gain 
or loss on the loss of control is recognised in the parents’ profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interest in the associate or joint 
venture. The remaining gain or loss is eliminated against the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture. The same treatment 
is followed for the measurement to fair value of any remaining investment which is itself an associate or joint venture. If the remaining investment is 
accounted for in terms of IFRS 9, then the measurement to fair value of that interest is recognised in full in the parents’ profit or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is to be determined by the IASB. 

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The IFRS establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts issued. 

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2021. 

The group will adopt the standard for the first time in the 2021 consolidated and separate financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement - Amendments to IAS 19

The amendment deals with the determination of past service cost and gains or losses on settlement, when a plan is amended, curtailed or settled (“the 
event”). Specifically, when determining the past service cost or gain or loss on settlement, the net defined benefit liability (asset) shall be remeasured 
using the current fair value of plan assets and current actuarial assumptions reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and plan assets both before and 
after the event. The effect of the asset ceiling shall not be considered in this exercise. The effect of the asset ceiling shall be determined after the event. 

The amendment also specifies that when determining current service costs and net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) in a period in which 
an amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs, to apply inputs at the beginning of the reporting period for the current service cost and interest up 
to the date of the event, and to apply inputs as at the date of the event to determine current service costs and interest for the remainder of the period. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Long-term Interests in Joint Ventures and Associates - Amendments to IAS 28

The amendment now requires that an entity also applies IFRS 9 to other financial instruments in an associate or joint venture to which the equity 
method is not applied. These include long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the entity’s net investment in an associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation - Amendment to IFRS 9

The amendment to Appendix B of IFRS 9 specifies that for the purpose of applying paragraphs B4.1.11(b) and B4.1.12(b), irrespective of the event 
or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract, a party may pay or receive reasonable compensation for that early termination. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. 

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

The amendment clarifies that when a party to a joint arrangement obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, and had rights to the assets 
and obligations for the liabilities relating to that joint operation immediately before the acquisition date, the transaction is a business combination 
achieved in stages. The acquirer shall therefore apply the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

The amendment clarifies that if a party participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation and subsequently obtains joint control of the 
joint operation (which constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3) that, in such cases, previously held interests in the joint operation are not remeasured.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. 

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

The amendment specifies that the income tax consequences on dividends are recognised in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity 
according to where the entity originally recognised the events or transactions which generated the distributable reserves.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

The amendment specifies that when determining the weighted average borrowing rate for purposes of capitalising borrowing costs, the calculation 
excludes borrowings which have been made specifically for the purposes of obtaining a qualifying asset, but only until substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. 

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 
Specifically, if it is probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then all tax related items are measured according to the 
planned tax treatment. If it is not probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then the tax related items are measured 
on the basis of probabilities to reflect the uncertainty. Changes in facts and circumstances are required to be treated as changes in estimates and 
applied prospectively.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. 

The group has adopted the interpretation for the first time in the 2019 consolidated and separate financial statements. 

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main changes arising from the 
issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the group are as follows:

Group as lessee:
• Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except short term leases or leases where the underlying 

asset has a low value, which are expensed on a straight line or other systematic basis.
• The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, where appropriate, the initial amount of the lease liability; lease payments made prior to commencement 

of the lease less incentives received; initial direct costs of the lessee; and an estimate for any provision for dismantling, restoration and removal 
related to the underlying asset.

• The lease liability takes into consideration, where appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments; residual value guarantees to be made by the lessee; 
exercise price of purchase options; and payments of penalties for terminating the lease.

• The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured on the cost model at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment and adjusted for any re-
measurement of the lease liability. However, right-of-use assets are measured at fair value when they meet the definition of investment property 
and all other investment property is accounted for on the fair value model. If a right-of-use asset relates to a class of property, plant and equipment 
which is measured on the revaluation model, then that right-of-use asset may be measured on the revaluation model.

• The lease liability is subsequently increased by interest, reduced by lease payments and re-measured for reassessments or modifications.
• Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected against right-of-use assets, unless the assets have been reduced to nil, in which case further 

adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.
• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised payments at a revised rate when there is a change in the lease term or a change in the 

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised lease payments at the original discount rate when there is a change in the amounts expected 
to be paid in a residual value guarantee or when there is a change in future payments because of a change in index or rate used to determine those 
payments.

• Certain lease modifications are accounted for as separate leases. When lease modifications which decrease the scope of the lease are not required 
to be accounted for as separate leases, then the lessee re-measures the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right of lease asset 
to reflect the full or partial termination of the lease. Any gain or loss relating to the full or partial termination of the lease is recognised in profit or 
loss. For all other lease modifications which are not required to be accounted for as separate leases, the lessee re-measures the lease liability by 
making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

• Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should be presented separately from other assets and liabilities. If not, then the line item in which they 
are included must be disclosed. This does not apply to right-of-use assets meeting the definition of investment property which must be presented 
within investment property. IFRS 16 contains different disclosure requirements compared to IAS 17 leases.

Group as lessor:
• Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar to the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases. 

Lease classification is reassessed only if there has been a modification.
• A modification is required to be accounted for as a separate lease if it both increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 

underlying assets; and the increase in consideration is commensurate to the stand alone price of the increase in scope.
• If a finance lease is modified, and the modification would not qualify as a separate lease, but the lease would have been an operating lease if the 

modification was in effect from inception, then the modification is accounted for as a separate lease. In addition, the carrying amount of the underlying 
asset shall be measured as the net investment in the lease immediately before the effective date of the modification. IFRS 9 is applied to all other 
modifications not required to be treated as a separate lease.

• Modifications to operating leases are required to be accounted for as new leases from the effective date of the modification. Changes have also 
been made to the disclosure requirements of leases in the lessor’s financial statements. 

Sale and leaseback transactions:
• In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to consider whether a performance obligation is satisfied 

to determine whether the transfer of the asset is accounted for as the sale of an asset.
• If the transfer meets the requirements to be recognised as a sale, the seller-lessee must measure the new right-of-use asset at the proportion of 

the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right-of-use retained. The buyerlessor accounts for the purchase by applying applicable 
standards and for the lease by applying IFRS 16

• If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not equal to the fair value of the asset, then IFRS 16 requires adjustments to be made to the sale 
proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, then the seller-lessee continues to recognise the transferred asset and recognises a financial 
liability equal to the transfer proceeds. The buyer-lessor recognises a financial asset equal to the transfer proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2019 consolidated and separate financial statements.

2. IFRS 16: Leases – Impact is on lessee accounting only (Consolidated)

• As at the 31 December 2018, the Group held fourteen (14) lease contracts comprising of ten (10) building leases, one (1) motor vehicle rental and one 
(2) for printers and scanners. On the basis of the modified retrospective approach and practical expediencies elected by the Group, seven (9) building 
lease contracts and one (1) motor vehicle lease contract would have resulted in a change to lessee accounting from operating lease to on-balance 
sheet accounting also previously known as finance lease accounting. All other leases are treated as short-term or low value resulting in the same 
treatment for operating leases under IAS 17.

• If IFRS 16 was adopted in the current period, the Group would have recognised a new lease liability to the tune of P 6,533,681 and corresponding 
Right-of-Use Asset amounting to P6,121,290 as at 31 December 2018. Finance costs would have increased by P453,503 and depreciation expense 
from the Right-of-Use Assets by P2,000,595 respectively. Deferred tax income and asset would have increased by P83,165.

• Profit for the would have reduced by P221,956 if the standard was adopted in the current year.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

• Overall the equity attributable to shareholders would have declined by P221,983.

• The impact will increase slightly in future periods due to renewal of lease contracts for office space and shall relate to Finance cost, depreciation 
expense, Lease Liability and Right-of-Use Assets.

• Overall the impact on the Group resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16 is expected to be immaterial.

2. IFRS 16: Leases – Impact is on lessee accounting only (Separate)

• As at the 31 December 2018, the Parent held three (3) lease contracts comprising of two (2) building leases and one (1) for printers and scanners. 
On the basis of the modified retrospective approach and practical expediencies elected by the Parent, one (1) building lease contracts would have 
resulted in a change to lessee accounting from operating lease to onbalance sheet accounting also previously known as finance lease accounting. 
All other leases are treated as a short-term lease or low value and resulting in the same treatment for operating leases under IAS 17.

• If IFRS 16 was adopted in the current period, the Group would have recognised a new lease liability to the tune of P1,017,253 and corresponding 
Right-of-Use Asset amounting to P982,886 as at 31 December 2018. Finance cost would have increased by P237,248 and depreciation expense 
from the Right-of-Use Assets by P46,263 respectively.

• Profit for the would have reduced by P13,904 if the standard was adopted in the current year.

• Overall the equity attributable to shareholders would have declined by P22,207.

• The impact will increase slightly in future periods due to renewal of lease contracts for office space and shall relate to Finance cost, depreciation 
expense, Lease Liability and Right-of-Use Assets.

• Overall the impact on the Parent resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16 is expected to be immaterial.

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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                         Consolidated                      Separate
Figures in Pula 2018 2017 2018 2017

Continuing operations

3. Revenue

By product type:

Revenue from sale of goods 15 087 114 10 251 860 - -

Rendering of services 42 099 358 38 814 701 - -

Subscriptions received 649 587 184 599 459 084 651 900 681 601 393 268

Wellness program 1 725 662 1 905 001 1 725 662 2 060 281

708 499 318 650 430 646 653 626 343 603 453 549

By timing of recognition:

Products transfered at a point in time 15 087 114 10 251 860 - -

Products and services transfered over time 696 776 831 640 178 786 656 990 470 603 453 549

711 863 445 650 430 646 656 990 470 603 453 549

4. Benefits paid

Dental 31 203 083 25 809 950 31 203 083 25 809 950

Hospital 206 774 547 179 334 565 206 774 547 179 334 565

Consultation drugs and rehabilitation 171 737 590 153 878 552 210 209 983 195 599 567

Maternity 12 039 230 12 804 461 12 039 230 12 804 461

Optical and appliances 22 805 017 24 585 485 22 805 017 24 585 485

Funeral 2 808 239 5 748 829 2 808 239 5 748 828

Emergency medical services 1 112 104 1 031 443 10 379 637 9 626 802

Chronic ailments 34 346 300 39 158 669 34 346 300 39 158 669

Special benefits 2 707 489 1 180 338 18 522 062 16 235 057

Legal expenses - 135 450 - 135 450

Severe illness benfit cover 1 446 011 6 886 004 1 446 011 6 886 004

Wellnes program costs 1 715 690 1 730 888 1 806 056 1 840 087

488 695 300 452 284 634 552 340 165 517 764 925
(i) Special benefits
Drugs and laboratory tests 4 235 683 3 428 436 20 050 255 16 732 909

Recoveries from members (2 050 463) (2 248 098) (2 050 463) (2 248 098)

Other costs 522 269 - 522 270 1 750 246

2 707 489 1 180 338 18 522 062 16 235 057

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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                Consolidated                  Separate

Figures in Pula 2018 2017 2018 2017

5. Operating surplus

Operating surplus for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

Profit/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (37 088) (341 472) 44 496 (166 504)

Loss on sale of financial assets 4 224 612 1 096 321 4 224 612 1 096 321

Audit fees - current year 750 340 943 000 650 000 534 000

Audit fees - prior year 329 660 277 760 329 660 277 760

Directors’ fees 1 768 526 793 825 1 447 526 576 225

Directors’ and key management remuneration 15 479 706 9 104 420 7 309 391 7 664 213

Provision for impairment of trade receivables 4 473 180 8 903 148 3 837 114 8 269 932

Foreign exchange gain (2 604 779) (241 167) (2 587 767) (273 648)

Staff costs 83 796 395 71 643 790 41 013 565 36 614 300

Internal audit fees 494 232 910 798 494 232 910 798

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4 882 045 4 567 610 2 006 422 1 734 983

6. Dividend and other income
Foreign exchange gain 2 604 779 241 167 2 587 767 273 648

Profit/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 37 088 341 472 (44 496) 166 504

Rental income 1 082 318 936 135 - 227 040

Profit share - severe illness 895 337 1 360 454 1 255 337 1 360 454

Dividend income 3 419 380 3 036 743 3 419 380 3 036 744

Sundry income 1 436 093 83 028 1 180 029 77 037

9 474 995 5 998 999 8 398 017 5 141 427
7. Interest received
Interest income

Short-term deposits 4 489 671 2 936 175 4 450 760 2 904 229

Call deposits 32 180 34 167 - -

Total interest income 4 521 851 2 970 342 4 450 760 2 904 229

8. Interest paid

Interest on bank loans 897 233 1 140 632 1 450 29 735

Interest paid on obligations under finance leases 2 064 21 282 - -

Total finance costs 899 297 1 161 914 1 450 29 735

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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                    Consolidated                 Separate

Figures in Pula 2018 2017 2018 2017

9. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense (income)

Current

Company tax at 22% (2017: 22%) - 796 527 - -

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences 41 646 (54 778) - -

Arising from prior period adjustments - (274 693) - -

41 646 (329 471) - -
41 646 467 056 - -

Tax reconciliation
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Surplus before taxation 32 114 997 14 538 248 27 648 079 11 284 854
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 22% (2017: 22%) 7 065 299 3 198 415 6 082 577 2 482 668

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Society surplus/(deficit) exempt from income tax (7 050 581) (2 457 613) (6 082 577) (2 482 668)

Unutilised assessed loss 545 303 35 397 - -

Expenses not deductible for tax 9 020 11 902 - -

Allowed claims on computer software (7 891) (286 971) - -

Prior period deferred tax (under)/over provision 102 900 (34 074) - -

Deferred tax - Opening provision for doubtful receivables (622 404) - - -

41 646 467 056 - -

No provision for current tax has been made for the Society for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 as the Society is not subject 
to taxation under the Income Tax Act (Chapter 52:01). The subsidiaries of the Society are taxable entities. The estimated tax loss available for set off 
against future taxable income is P 8 676 150 (2017: P 8 783 786). Tax losses expire after five years if not utilised. 

A deferred tax asset was not raised in respect of assessed losses, due to the fact that the Group will likely not generate taxable income in the foresee 
able future to off set off against losses.

The accumulated tax losses of the Group expire as follows:.

30 June 2022 2 296 056 2 296 056 - -

30 June 2023 6 380 094 6 487 730 - -

8 676 150 8 783 786 - -

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements
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                  Consolidated              Separate

Figures in Pula 2018 2017 2018 2017

10. Discontinued operations and assets classified held for sale

Alpha Access (Proprietary) Limited

Due to the significant losses the Company was making since inception, the shareholder assessed a number of options to curtail further losses. On 9 
September 2016, the shareholder, through a resolution of the directors of the company decided to close down the company and sell its assets The 
dissolution of the Company is still ongoing to date, and this is expected to conclude within the 12 months subsequent to the financial statements 
date. All assets and liabilities were presented as current, and valued at amounts not exceeding those expected to be realised. All assets have since 
been impaired.

Profit and loss

Revenue - 689 700 - -

Other income - 44 258 - -

Profit on sale of assets - 190 329 - -

Expenses - 1 477 413 - -

Impairment of property, plant and equipment - (2 483 400) - -

Net loss before tax - (81 700) - -

Tax thereon - - - -

Net loss after tax - (81 700) - -

11. Cash flows of discontinued operations

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment - (190 329) - -

Finance income - (2 345 819) - -

Impairment loss on invsetment in subsidiary - 2 483 400 - -

Movement in provisions - (389 000) - -

Changes in working capital - (15 644) - -

Net cash used in operating activities - (457 392) - -

Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment - 190 329 - -



76

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

04  Board of Trustees        06  Board of Trustees Profiles         08  Chairperson’s Statement                      12  Corporate Governance        

12. Property, plant and equipment

Consolidated 2018 2017

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value Cost or

revaluation
Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 46 761 665 (4 073 182) 42 688 483 46 761 665 (2 877 725) 43 883 940

Furniture and equipment 15 313 466 (10 535 166) 4 778 300 14 799 559 (9 242 320) 5 557 239

Motor vehicles 6 809 566 (6 282 981) 526 585 7 237 766 (6 039 259) 1 198 507

Office equipment 569 426 (145 688) 423 738 484 619 (59 915) 424 704

IT equipment 3 527 238 (1 528 628) 1 998 610 2 918 574 (661 715) 2 256 859

Leasehold improvements 1 885 781 (883 076) 1 002 705 2 735 669 (866 246) 1 869 423

Capital - Work in progress 1 709 909 - 1 709 909 200 000 - 200 000

Total 76 577 051 (23 448 721) 53 128 330 75 137 852 (19 747 180) 55 390 672

Separate 2018 2017

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value Cost or

revaluation
Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 23 041 665 (2 649 982) 20 391 683 23 041 665 (1 928 925) 21 112 740

Furniture and equipment 726 173 (170 004) 556 169 533 405 (81 556) 451 849

Motor vehicles 746 269 (298 211) 448 058 979 677 (173 563) 806 114

Office equipment 569 426 (145 688) 423 738 484 619 (59 915) 424 704

IT equipment 3 527 238 (1 528 628) 1 998 610 2 918 574 (661 715) 2 256 859

Capital - Work in progress 435 645 - 435 645 - - -

Total 29 046 416 (4 792 513) 24 253 903 27 957 940 (2 905 674) 25 052 266
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Consolidated - 2018

Consolidated Separate
Figures in Pula                                     2018                              2017                                         2018                            20 17

Opening
carrying value

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Closing
carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 43 883 940 - - - (1 195 457) 42 688 483

Furniture and equipment 5 557 239 890 814 (105 290) 51 726 (1 616 189) 4 778 300

Motor vehicles 1 198 507 22 549 (116 705) - (577 766) 526 585

Office equipment 424 704 85 053 (197) - (85 822) 423 738

IT equipment 2 256 859 608 663 - - (866 912) 1 998 610

Leasehold improvements 1 869 423 - (275 093) (51 726) (539 899) 1 002 705

Capital - Work in progress 200 000 1 509 909 - - - 1 709 909

55 390 672 3 116 988 (497 285) - (4 882 045) 53 128 330

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Consolidated - 2017

Opening
carrying value Additions Depreciation Closing

carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 45 168 434 - (1 284 494) 43 883 940

Furniture and equipment 5 963 605 1 011 726 (1 418 092) 5 557 239

Motor vehicles 1 559 059 342 507 (703 059) 1 198 507

Office equipment 464 706 16 965 (56 967) 424 704

IT equipment 2 354 634 544 002 (641 777) 2 256 859

Leasehold improvements 1 853 510 479 134 (463 221) 1 869 423

Capital - Work in progress 200 000 - - 200 000

57 563 948 2 394 334 (4 567 610) 55 390 672
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Separate - 2018

Opening
carrying value Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing

carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 21 112 740 - - (721 057) 20 391 683

Furniture and equipment 451 849 206 926 (11 327) (91 279) 556 169

Motor vehicles 806 114 - (116 705) (241 351) 448 058

Office equipment 424 704 85 053 (197) (85 822) 423 738

IT equipment 2 256 859 608 664 - (866 913) 1 998 610

Capital - Work in progress - 435 645 - - 435 645

25 052 266 1 336 288 (128 229) (2 006 422) 24 253 903

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Separate - 2017

Opening
carrying value Additions Depreciation Closing

carrying value

Leasehold land and buildings 21 922 832 - (810 092) 21 112 740

Furniture and equipment 488 645 15 788 (52 584) 451 849

Motor vehicles 637 168 342 509 (173 563) 806 114

Office equipment 464 706 16 965 (56 967) 424 704

IT equipment 2 354 634 544 002 (641 777) 2 256 859

25 867 985 919 264 (1 734 983) 25 052 266

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

The following assets have been encumbered as security for the secured long-term borrowings as detailed in notes 21 & 22:

Motor vehicles - 169 362 - -

Land and buildings: Plot 60601, 
Block 7, Gaborone

18 894 000 19 296 000 - -

Land and buildings: Plot 20623, 
Block 3, Gaborone

3 402 800 3 475 200 - -

22 296 800 22 940 562 - -
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Details of Properties

Consolidated

The Group revalues leasehold land and buildings every five years. The last revaluation was done for the year ended 31 December 2015. Leasehold 
land and buildings comprise of the following:
• Lot 50638 Fairgrounds, Gaborone, measuring 4,386 square meters, which property is held under a Deed of Fixed Period State Grant for 50 years 

commencing 4 February 1994. The leasehold land and buildings were independently valued at P22 230 000 by Real Reach Property Valuers on the 
open market value basis in 2015.

• Lot 60601, Block 7, Gaborone, measuring 1,1707 hectares, which property is held under a Deed of Fixed Period State Grant of 50 years commencing 
27 November 2008. This property was independently valued by Knight Frank Botswana on the open market value basis in 2015 at P20 100 000. 
The property is encumbered as per note 22.

• Lot 20623 Gaborone West, Extension 34, measuring 1 562 square metres, which property is held under a Deed of Fixed Period State Grant of 50 
years commencing 17 February 1999. This property was independently valued by MG Properties on the open market value basis in 2015 at P3 620 
000. The property is encumbered as per note 22.

• Tribal Lot 734, Maun measuring 1,337 square metres held under a long-term lease agreement of 50 years commencing 15 October 1996. This 
property was independently valued on the open market value basis by Roscoe Bonna Valuers, Chartered Surveyors in 2015 at P200 000.

The open market value basis is defined as the estimated amount for which the property could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller 
in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing, wherein the parties each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

Motor vehicles with a carrying amount of PNil (2017: P 169 362), were encumbered per note 21. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed by management at each reporting date, with the effect of any 
changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to the residual values and 
useful lives used in the current or prior periods.

If the cost model had been used, the carrying amounts of the revalued land and buildings, would be P36 475 992 (2017: P 37 900 438) for the Group.

Separate

The leasehold land and buildings comprise Lot 50638 Fairgrounds, Gaborone, measuring 4,386 square meters, which property is held under a Deed 
of Fixed Period State Grant for 50 years commencing 4 February 1994. The leasehold land and buildings were independently valued at P22 230 000 
by Real Reach Property Valuers on the open market value basis in 2015.

The revaluation surplus was credited to the revaluation reserve. The open market value basis is defined as the estimated amount for which the property 
could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing, wherein the parties each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed by management at each reporting date, with the effect of any 
changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to the residual values and 
useful lives used in the current or prior periods.

If the cost model had been used, the carrying amounts of the revalued land and buildings, would be P19 139 933 (2017: P20 168 771) for the Society.

13. Investment in subsidiaries

The Society owns 100% of the equity shares of Southview (Proprietary) Limited. The Society has the power to appoint and remove the board of directors 
of Southview (Proprietary) Limited. The relevant activities of Southview (Proprietary) Limited are determined by the board of directors of Southview 
(Proprietary) Limited. Therefore, the Trustees of the Society concluded that the Society has control over Southview (Proprietary) Limited and Southview 
(Proprietary) Limited is consolidated in these financial statements. 

The financial reporting period for Southview (Proprietary) Limited is the same as that of the Society.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

Separate
Name of company Held by %

holding
2018

%
holding

2017

Carrying
amount 2018

Carrying
amount 2017

Southview (Proprietary) Limited 100,00 % 100,00 % 50 551 969 50 551 969

50 551 969 50 551 969

Impairment of investment in subsidiary (34 339 704) (31 211 044)

Closing balance 16 212 265 19 340 925

A detailed impairment assessment performed at the reporting date indicated that the investment was partially impaired. The assessment was based 
on the five year estimated future cash flows at Southview (Proprietary) Limited and net asset value.

Reconciliation of investment in subsidiary
Opening balance 19 340 925 19 340 925

Impairment loss recognised (3 128 660) -

16 212 265 19 340 925

Subsidiary with significant non-controlling interests

The following information is provided for the subsidiary with non-controlling interests which is significant to the company. The summarised financial 
information is provided prior to inter company eliminations.

Subsidiary Country of incorporation % Ownership interest held by
non-controlling interest

2018                   2017
MRI Botswana Limited Botswana 6 %                       6 %

Summarised statement of financial position
                  MRI Botswana Limited

                      2018                                2017
Assets
Non-current assets 28 874 428 30 338 406

Current assets 21 636 346 31 116 528

Total assets 50 510 774 61 454 934

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 9 445 738 11 959 181

Current liabilities 20 611 507 26 099 838

Total liabilities 30 057 245 38 059 019

Total net assets 20 453 529 23 395 915
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest 1 227 211 1 403 775

Summarised statement of financial performance

                 MRI Botswana Limited
                    2018                                     2017

Revenue 121 593 008 114 243 375

Other income and expenses (121 526 110) (110 828 991)

Profit before tax 66 898 3 414 384

Tax expense (41 646) (741 749)

Profit for the year 25 252 2 672 635

Other comprehensive income 170 924 147 827

Total comprehensive income 196 176 2 820 462

Profit allocated to non-controlling interest 11 771 169 228

Total profit allocated to non-controlling interest 11 771 169 228

Summarised statement of cash flows
                 MRI Botswana Limited

                      2018                                   2017

Cash flows from operating activities 3 143 754 5 240 853

Cash flows from investing activities (1 269 269) (1 236 724)

Cash flows from financing activities (2 233 601) (2 058 729)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (359 116) 1 945 400
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14. Financial Assets at Fair value through Other 
       Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI)

Botswana Medical Aid Society directly held 152 658 55 213 152 658 55 213

BIFM Asset Management 67 795 245 97 058 926 67 795 245 97 058 926

Investec Asset Management 43 886 456 73 803 115 43 886 456 73 803 115

African Alliance Asset Management 67 335 986 54 002 345 67 335 986 54 002 345

179 170 345 224 919 599 179 170 345 224 919 599

Onshore equity investments by asset manager
Botswana Medical Aid Society - directly held 152 658 55 213 152 658 55 213

African Alliance Asset Management 15 698 676 30 986 621 15 698 676 30 986 621

BIFM Asset Management 24 380 795 29 422 181 24 380 795 29 422 181

Investec Asset Management 10 701 975 18 518 118 10 701 975 18 518 118

50 934 104 78 982 133 50 934 104 78 982 133

Onshore bonds by asset manager
African Alliance Asset Management 18 536 120 25 354 307 18 536 120 25 354 307

BIFM Asset Management 21 257 626 23 668 349 21 257 626 23 668 349

Investec Asset Management 20 169 764 20 334 151 20 169 764 20 334 151

59 963 510 69 356 807 59 963 510 69 356 807

Offshore equity and bonds by asset managers
African Alliance - unit trust 33 101 191 32 317 483 33 101 191 32 317 483

BIFM Asset Management - offshore equities 15 955 161 24 142 764 15 955 161 24 142 764

BIFM Asset Management - pooled portfolios 6 201 662 6 299 877 6 201 662 6 299 877

Investec Asset Management- offshore equities 13 014 717 13 820 535 13 014 717 13 820 535

68 272 731 76 580 659 68 272 731 76 580 659

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
financial assets

179 170 345 224 919 599 179 170 345 224 919 599

Cash and short term money investments                                                17

African Alliance Asset Management 22 878 228 3 036 867 22 878 228 3 036 867

BIFM Asset Manangement 29 371 211 13 525 755 29 371 211 13 525 755

Investec Asset Mangement 30 340 709 21 130 312 30 340 709 21 130 312

82 590 148 37 692 934 82 590 148 37 692 934

Total assets under asset managers 261 760 493 262 612 533 261 760 493 262 612 533
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14. Financial Assets at Fair value through Other 
       Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) (continued)

Reconciliation of assets by asset manager

Botswana Medical Aid Society 152 658 55 213 152 658 55 213

African Alliance Management 90 214 214 91 695 279 90 214 214 91 695 279

BIFM Asset Management 97 166 456 97 058 926 97 166 456 97 058 926

Fleming Asset Management 74 227 165 73 803 115 74 227 165 73 803 115

261 760 493 262 612 533 261 760 493 262 612 533

A description of the Group’s financial instrument risks, including risk management objectives and policies is given in Note 30 and the methods used 
to measure the above financial assets reported at fair value are described in Note 31.

15. Inventories

Merchandise 562 388 402 459 - -

Dispensary drugs, medicines and consumables 3 561 660 4 118 072 - -

4 124 048 4 520 531 - -

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing operations was P52 689 199 (2017: P49 315 781) 

No inventories were pledged as security for any borrowings in 2018 and 2017. No inventories are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.

16. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 32 285 270 27 854 791 22 708 240 17 952 607

Provision for impairment (18 162 434) (11 150 913) (14 615 757) (8 269 932)

14 122 836 16 703 878 8 092 483 9 682 675
Amounts due from related parties 29 - - 1 110 428 1 242 792

Wellness receivables 545 642 495 556 545 642 495 556

Other receivables 4 258 888 5 637 656 1 373 477 1 254 857

18 927 366 22 837 090 11 122 030 12 675 880

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

The average credit period is 30 days (2017: 30 days). No interest is charged on past due trade receivables. As at year end, Group trade recievables of 
P17 487 051 (2017: P 11 948 315) and Society trade receivables of P 8 092 483 (2017: P 9 682 675) were past due but not impaired. These relate to 
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
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16. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Up to 2 months 9 914 316 7 351 991 7 702 293 7 351 991

2 to 3 months 4 876 987 2 804 204 3 754 317 2 330 764

3 months past due 2 465 726 - - -

Over 4 months 230 022 1 792 120 - -

17 487 051 11 948 315 11 456 610 9 682 755

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening balance 11 150 913 6 398 432 8 269 932 -

Provision for impairment 3 599 710 8 902 848 3 837 114 12 420 299

Amounts written off as uncollectable - (4 150 367) - (4 150 367)

Opening loss allowance calculated under IFRS9 3 411 812 - 2 508 712 -

18 162 435 11 150 913 14 615 758 8 269 932

17. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 21 226 15 303 2 569 2 333

Bank balances held by entities within the group 79 154 129 38 265 389 72 076 229 29 055 226

Short-term deposits held by entities within the group 11 391 035 1 364 679 10 000 000 -

Cash balances held by asset managers 14 82 590 148 37 692 934 82 590 148 37 692 934

173 156 538 77 338 305 164 668 946 66 750 493
Cash and cash equivalents held by the entity that 
are not available for use by the group.

173 156 537 77 338 305 164 668 945 66 750 493

Cash and bank balances comprise cash and deposits with financial institutions which are payable on demand.

18. Property revaluation reserve

The property revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of leasehold land and buildings. When revalued leasehold land or buildings are sold, the 
portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred directly to retained earnings. Items of other comprehensive 
income included in the property revaluation reserve will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. Distributions from the property revaluation 
reserve can be made where they are in accordance with the requirements of the Society’s constitution. Amounts may also be effectively distributed 
out of the properties revaluation reserve as part of a share buy-back. Generally, there is no restriction on the payment of ‘bonus shares’ out of the 
properties revaluation reserve. However, the payment of cash distributions out of the reserve is restricted by the terms of the Company’s constitution. 
These restrictions do not apply to any amounts transferred to retained profits. The directors do not currently intend to make any distribution from 
the properties revaluation reserve.
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18. Property revaluation reserve (continued)

Balance at beginning of year 20 868 161 20 729 204 19 908 318 19 908 318

Increase arising on revaluation of properties 170 924 147 827 - -

Less transfer to non-controlling interests (10 255) (8 870) - -

21 028 830 20 868 161 19 908 318 19 908 318

19. Financial assets at fair value reserve

The investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of financial assets that have been recognised 
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those assets have been disposed off or determined to be impaired.

Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                              2017                     2018                               2017

Balance at beginning of year 170 940 646 170 545 140 170 940 646 170 545 140

Reclassification adjustment relating to financial assets 
disposed during the year

97 445 395 506 97 445 395 505

Revaluation loss on financial assets that will not be 
reclassified to profit (loss)

(5 552 933) - (5 552 933) -

Revaluation gain on financial assets that may be 
reclassified to profit (loss)

1 164 201 - 1 164 200 -

166 649 359 170 940 646 166 649 358 170 940 646

20. Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability

Property plant and equipment (876 361) (581 773) - -

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability

At beginning of year (581 773) (1 059 071) - -

Movement per statement of comprehensive income (465 512) 329 471 - -

Deferred tax per other comprehensive income 170 924 147 827 - -

(876 361) (581 773) - -
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21. Finance lease liabilities 

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year - 86 435 - -

- 86 435 - -

less: future finance charges - (2 064) - -

Present value of minimum lease payments - 84 371 - -

Present value of minimum lease payments due
- within one year - 84 371 - -

The Group leased certain of its motor vehicles under finance leases. The average lease term is 3 years (2017: 3 years) for motor vehicles. The Group 
has exercise its option to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases 
are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets. Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in 
the event of default.

Annual interest on finance lease liabilities is charged at the Botswana prime lending rate for motor vehicles (currently 6,5% per annum) (2017: 6,5%) 
and the Botswana prime lending rate plus 2,0% (currently 8,0% per annum) (2017: 8,5%). The finance lease are secured over the motor vehicles and 
radio system which were financed at a cost of PNil (2017: P 1 581 116 ), Pnil (2017: P 285 846) respectively.

22. Property development loans

Held at amortised cost
Term loan (i) 3 224 057 9 347 163 - -

Commercial loan (ii) 8 216 124 4 123 769 - -

11 440 181 13 470 932 - -

Movement in loan balances
Balance at the beginning of year 13 470 931 15 328 246 - -

Repayments in current year (2 030 751) (1 857 315) - -

11 440 180 13 470 931 - -

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 5 268 410 6 609 191 - -

More than 5 years 3 811 906 4 768 217 - -

9 080 316 11 377 408 - -

Not later than 1 year 2 359 865 2 093 524 - -

2 359 865 2 093 524 - -

11 440 181 13 470 932 - -
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22. Property development loans (continued)

(i) The company developed a fit-for-purpose office building on Lot 60601, Block7, at a cost of P16.5 million. P10.5 million of the total development 
cost was financed through financial institutions with the remaining balance financed through cash flows from operating activities.

Interest is charged at the Botswana prime lending rate (currently 6,5% per annum) (2017: 6,5% per annum).

The loan is repayable over a fifteen(15) year period and installments of P 97 356 are paid monthly.

(ii) The company obtained a bank loan amounting to P 7.36million which was used as follows;

• P 3.7 million was used to set up a Prime Health Pharmacy and Prime Health General Practice at Delta Medical Centre in Maun.
• P 2.6 million was used to setup Prime Health General Practice and Prime Health Pharmacy in Kasane.
• P 1.06 million was used to setup Prime Health Travel Clinic at Sir Seretse Khama Airport.

The loan is repayable over sixty (60) months period and installments of P 154 574 are paid monthly.

Interest is charged at the Botswana Prime lending rate plus 2% (Prime lending rate is currently (6.5%)per annum (2017: 6.5%).

Bank Gaborone Limited (“the bank”) has the following securities against the loans:

• A first Covering Mortgage Bond for P 9.21 million over Plot 60601, Block 7, Gaborone.
• A second Covering Mortgage Bond for P 5.8 million over Plot 60601, Block 7, Gaborone.
• Registered Cession of Fire Policy of P 22 million during development of the fit-for-purpose office building.
• A First Covering Mortgage Bond for P 4.3 million over Plot 20623 in Block 3, Gaborone
• Registered Cession of Fire Policy for P 8.18 million.

Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                              2017                     2018                               20 17

23. Subscriptions recieved in advance

Subscriptions received in advance 79 517 793 370 79 517 793 370

These are amounts received from members during the current year which relate to the following financial year. These amounts were classified as 
current liabilities as the benefits in respect thereof are expected to be utilised during the subsequent financial year.

Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                              2017                     2018                               20 17

24. Outstanding claims

Outstanding claims 67 542 143 39 280 734 70 002 423 43 719 029

This balance represents the fair value of claims which were due and payable as at year end. The obligation approximates the total value of claims which 
were paid subsequent to the reporting date within the four month period in accordance with the Society’s rules. 

The Society has adopted the chain ladder methodology by applying it to weekly claim development factors rather than monthly development factors. 
By adopting weekly development factors, the chain ladder method automatically adjusts for the timing of the last claims run relative to the accounting 
period cut-off. This adjustment must be performed annually for the chain ladder method using monthly development factors. The claim development 
factors are based on the Bomaid claim reporting patterns over the latest 12 months.

The adjusted chain ladder method employs a Bornhuetter-Ferguson approach to address the inability of the chain ladder to accurately predict ultimate 
claims incurred estimates for the latest reporting year(s). Again, a similar shortcoming is evident with using the chain ladder method for medical 
schemes using monthly development factors. The Society has adopted the method to make it applicable to using weekly development factors. The 
ultimate claims incurred for the latest four weeks are estimated using an independent forecast for the claims incurred based on the prior week’s claims.
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24. Outstanding claims (continued)

Reconciliation of outstanding claims provision
Opening balance 39 280 734 49 358 954 43 719 029 57 364 831

Prior year under/(over) provision 3 617 134 83 934 3 617 134 83 934

Current year increase in provision 67 542 143 39 280 734 70 002 423 43 719 029

Payment in respect of prior year (42 897 868) (49 442 888) (47 336 163) (57 448 765)

67 542 143 39 280 734 70 002 423 43 719 029

25. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 8 762 044 13 350 580 - -

Amounts due to related parties                        29 - - 4 156 165 2 524 388

Payroll accruals 12 022 823 9 912 439 7 572 632 5 026 468

Other accrued expenses 12 693 216 16 690 997 8 415 073 12 322 309

Value added tax 485 051 575 011 - -

33 963 134 40 529 027 20 143 870 19 873 165

Staff related accruals comprise of accruals for employee benefits which include annual leave entitlements and gratuity for employees on contracts. 

The average credit period is 30 to 60 days (2017: 30 to 60 days). No interest is charged on overdue payables. The Group has financial risk management 
policies in place to ensure that all payables are repaid within the pre-arranged credit terms.

26. Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Authorised capital commitment as at 31 December 2018 was P58 993 000 (2017: Nil) towards the acqusition of a new fund administration system 
to replace the current Ezcap System. At 31 December 2018 the Society had not entered into a contract with the potential supplier of the new system, 
as thus no capital expenditure had been incurred.

Operating lease commitments

Operating leases relate to three office facilities with lease terms of between 2 to 3 years, with an option to extend for a further year. Two of the three 
operating lease contracts contain a fixed escalation clause of 10% per annum. The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the 
expiry of the lease period. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 1 744 635 1 678 434 - -

- in second to fifth year inclusive 2 023 992 3 685 514 - -

3 768 627 5 363 948 - -

27. Fidelity cover

In accordance with the rules of the Society, fidelity cover of P2 000 000 (2017: 2 000 000) has been procured.



89

BO
M

AI
D 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

18

Putting Wellness First

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements

Botswana Medical Aid Society
Consolidated And Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

16  Stakeholder Engagements           20  Corporate Social Responsibility          26 Principal Officer’s Report          35  Financial Statements    

Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                      2017   2018                          2017

28. Contingent liabilities

In the ordinary course of business the Society is a defendant in two (2) litigations with respect to compensation claims. A former employee has instituted 
a compensation claim agaisnt the Society in the Industrial Court for unfair dismissal equivalent to six (6) months salary amounting to P167 916 as 
compensation. The Society is currently defending another case instituted by Oseg Group in the sum of P1 152 166 for services rendered. No provision 
has been made in the financial statements as the Society’s management do not consider that there is any probable loss.

29. Related parties

Related party transactions include all transactions between the Society and entities under common control and the remuneration to the board and 
key members of management. Intercompany transactions are at group agreed prices and services are on a cost-plus basis.

Relationships
Subsidiary of Botswana Medical Aid Society Southview (Proprietary) Limited

Subsidiary of Southview (Proprietary) Limited MRI Botswana (Proprietary) Limited

Subsidiary of Southview (Proprietary) Limited Alpha Access (Proprietary) Limited

Related party balances
Year end balances arising from the rendering of services included in outstanding 
claims
MRI Botswana (Proprietary) Limited - outstanding claims payable - - (2 460 280) (4 438 295)

Year end balances arising from the rendering of services
Southview (Proprietary) Limited - payable - - - (662 783)

MRI Botswana (Proprietary) Limited - payable - - (4 156 165) (1 861 604)

- - (4 156 165) (2 524 387)

Year end balances arising from the rendering of services
MRI Botswana (Proprietary) Limited - receivable - - 1 110 428 1 242 792

Amounts due to and from related parties are interest free, 
unsecured and without any repayment terms.

Related party transactions
Receipts by Botswana Medical Aid Society from MRI Botswana (Pty) 
for services rendered:

Employee subscriptions for medical aid - - (2 339 941) (1 955 349)

Remuneration to key members of management
Short term benefits 12 381 214 6 268 177 5 973 813 5 982 354

Post-emeployment benefits 3 098 492 2 836 243 1 335 578 1 681 859

15 479 706 9 104 420 7 309 391 7 664 213
The above benefits are comprised of the following

Directors’- fees 1 768 526 793 825 1 447 526 576 225

Directors’and key management remuneration 15 479 706 9 104 420 7 309 391 7 664 213

17 248 232 9 898 245 8 756 917 8 240 438
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29. Related parties (continued)
Payments by Botswana Medical Aid Society to MRI 
Botswana Limited for services rendered
Special benefit fund - - 15 344 301 14 484 811

Pharmacy revenue - - 38 472 393 41 721 014

Medical rescue services - - 9 267 533 8 595 359

Call centre charges - - 857 480 834 929

Rental - - 149 411 376 451

Counselling services - - 470 271 569 907

Wellness program - - 191 600 155 280

- - 64 752 989 66 737 751

30. Risk management

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to stakeholders 
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2017. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in notes 21, and 22, offset by cash and bank balances) and equity of 
the Group (comprising low claim reserve, property revaluation reserve, financial assets revaluation reseve, accumulated funds and non-controlling 
interests as shown in the statement of financial position).  The Group has adequtate cash resources to cover its debts as at 31 December 2018. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Market risk

Market risk relates to the risk of changes in market prices, such as changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates which may affect the Group’s 
profit or loss or the value of its financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure with 
in acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest rate risk

As the Group has interest-bearing assets and liabilities the Group’s policy is to minimise interest rate risk exposure on these financial assets and 
financial liabiities. The Group’s investments in bonds, call accounts, short term investments and offshore cash and cash equivalents are considered 
long term and short term strategic investments. During the year, the Group was exposed to changes in market interest rates through bank borrowings 
and investments in bonds, call accounts, short term investments and offshore cash and cash equivalents.

Financial instruments subject to interest rate risk are as follows:

Financial assets and liabilities
Finance lease obligations - (84 371) - -

Property development loan (11 440 181) (13 470 932) - -

Bonds 66 165 172 75 656 684 66 165 172 75 656 684

Cash and cash equivalents held by Investment 82 590 149 37 629 934 82 590 149 37 692 934

Managers

Call accounts 61 149 852 16 929 997 54 771 265 16 920 113

198 464 992 116 661 312 203 526 586 130 269 731
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Consolidated              Separate

Figures in Pula  2018                      2017   2018                          20 17

30. Risk management (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The Group invests with reputable institutions and is subjected to normal interest rate risk. The effective annual interest rates on the financial instruments 
noted above are as follows:

Pula call accounts 0,75 % 0,75 % 0,75 % 0,75 %

Rand call accounts 1,00 % 1,00 % 1,00 % 1,00 %

Finance lease 8,17 % 8,17 % - % - %

Bank loan (unsecured) 6,50 % 7,00 % - % - %

Property development loan - term loan 6,50 % 7,00 % - % - %

African Alliance - % 6,48 % - % 6,48 %

The following are the Pula equivalent amounts that were held by the Group in its call accounts:

GBP Pula Rand Total
2018 call deposits 704 689 60 445 163 - 61 149 852

GBP Pula Rand Total
2017 call deposits 426 414 16 493 386 - 16 920 113

The following are the Pula equivalent amounts that were held by the Society in its call accounts:

GBP Pula Rand Total
2018 call deposits 704 689 54 066 576 - 54 771 265

GBP Pula Rand Total
2017 call deposits 426 414 16 493 972 - 16 920 386

Sensitivity analysis
`
A change of 50 basis points in interest rates during the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) the profit before taxation by an equal 
amount in either direction, as shown below:

Consolidated 2018 Current rate New rate Principal amount Effect on the 
surplus

Property development loan - term loan 6,50 % 7,00 % 8 216 124 41 081

Property development loan - commercial loan 6,50 % 7,00 % 3 224 057 16 120

11 440 181 57 201
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30. Risk management (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Short term investments - Consolidated 2018 Current rate New rate Principal amount Effect on the 
surplus

Call and short term deposits 1,00 % 1,50 % 54 771 265 273 856

Short term investments - Seperate 2018
Call and short term deposits 1,00 % 1,50 % 54 771 265 273 856

Consolidated 2017 Current rate New rate Principal amount Effect on the 
surplus

Finance lease liabilities 9,00 % 9,50 % 84 371 422

Property development loan - term loan 6,50 % 7,00 % 9 347 163 46 736

Property development loan - commercial loan 9,00 % 9,50 % 4 123 769 20 619

13 555 303 67 777

Short term investments - Consolidated 2017
Call and short term deposits 1,00 % 1,50 % 16 920 113 84 601

Short term investments - Seperate 2017 1,00 % 1,50 % 16 920 113 84 601

Call and short term deposits 16 920 113 84 601

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December 
2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the 
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial loss from defaults. For investments in corporate bonds, the Group transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade. 
The historical probability of default on the bond portfolio is nil and the current and forwarding looking probability of default is also deemed to be nil 
thus no provision is made on the bonds. 

The credit rating information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available 
financial information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are 
continuously monitored. 

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Furthermore, 
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each trade debt and debt investment on an individual basis at the end of each month to ensure that 
adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Trustees consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. 
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The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected 
loss provision for all shot-term receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, short-term receivables have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and the days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2018 is determined as follows; the expected credit losses 
below also incorporate forward looking information. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                                           2017  2018                                     2017

30. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Consolidated - 31 December 2018
Description Current 30 days+ 60 days+ 90 days+ 120 days+ Total
Gross carrying amount 10 187 927 5 159 084 4 055 896 3 034 591 13 211 899 35 649 397

Expected loss rate 2,68 % 5,47 % 39,21 % 92,42 % 100,00 % 51,00 %

Loss allowance provision (273 611) (282 097) (1 590 170) (2 804 569) (13 211 899) (18 162 346)

Amounts not provided for - - - - - 4 804 441

Net carrying amount 9 914 316 4 876 987 2 465 726 230 022 - 22 291 492

Consolidate - 31 December 2017
Description Current 30 days+ 60 days+ 90 days+ 120 days+ Total
Gross carrying amount 10 367 853 2 245 622 2 920 915 2 736 501 9 583 899 27 854 790

Incurred loss rate - % - % - % 57,00 % 100,00 % 40,00 %

Loss allowance provision - - - (1 567 014) (9 583 899) (11 150 913)

Amounts not provided for - - - - - 6 032 412

Net carrying amount 10 367 853 2 245 622 2 920 915 1 169 487 - 22 736 289

Separate - 31 December 2018
Description Current 30 days+ 60 days+ 90 days+ 120 days+ Total
Gross carrying amount 7 859 483 3 951 913 3 555 651 2 638 012 8 067 309 26 072 368

Expected loss rate 2,00 % 5,00 % 100,00 % 100,00 % 100,00 % - %

Loss allowance provision (157 190) (197 596) (3 555 651) (2 638 012) (8 067 309) (14 615 758)

Amounts not provided for - - - - - 1 944 021

Net carrying amount 7 702 293 3 754 317 - - - 13 400 631

Separate - 31 December 2017
Description Current 30 days+ 60 days+ 90 days+ 120 days+ Total
Gross carrying amount 6 321 760 1 030 231 2 330 684 2 265 903 6 004 029 17 952 607

Incurred loss rate - % - % - % 100,00 % 100,00 % - %

Loss allowance provision - - - (2 265 903) (6 004 029) (8 269 932)

Amounts not provided for - - - - - 2 993 205

Net carrying amount 6 321 760 1 030 231 2 330 684 - - 12 675 880
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Consolidated              Separate
Figures in Pula  2018                      2017   2018                          2017

30. Risk management (continued)

Reconciliation of impairment loss
At 1 January calculated under IAS 39 11 150 913 6 398 432 8 269 932 -

Amounts restated through opening accumulated funds 3 411 812 - 2 508 712 -

Opening loss allowance as at 1 January calculated under IFRS 9 14 562 725 6 398 432 10 778 644 -

Increase in receivable loss allowance recognised 
in profit or loss during the period

3 599 629 8 902 848 3 837 114 12 420 299

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible - (4 150 367) - (4 150 367)

At 31 December 18 162 354 11 150 913 14 615 758 8 269 932

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk for transactions that are denominated in a currency other than Pula.

The Group does not take cover on foreign currency as it regards the Pula as a stable currency.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on notional amounts is analysed as follows:

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents GBP53 056 (2017: GBP 32 984) 704 689 426 414 704 689 426 414

A 10% strengthening of the Botswana Pula against the Great British Pound at year-end would decrease the Group and Society’s surplus for the year 
by the amounts shown below.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Surplus for the year 70 469 42 641 70 469 42 641

Exchange rates used for translation of foreign items were:

USD - buy 10.4167 12.9195 10.4167 12.9195

GBP - sell 14.0310 13.6480 14.0310 13.6480

ZAR - buy 1.3830 1.2920 1.3830 1.2920

ZAR - sell 1.3060 1.2195 1.3060 1.2195
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30. Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to daily operational payments and payment of claims, trade and other payable balances, finance lease obligations and borrowings.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, excluding estimated interest payments and the impact of netting agreements:

Consolidated 2018 Carrying amount Contractual 6 months or less
Trade and other payables (33 963 136) (33 963 136) (33 963 136)

Property development loan (11 440 180) (11 440 180) (1 179 933)

Outstanding claims (67 542 143) (67 542 143) (67 542 143)

(112 945 459) (112 945 459) (102 685 212)

Consolidated 2017 Carrying amount Contractual 6 months or less
Trade and other payables (18 752 836) (18 752 836) (18 752 836)

Finance lease obligations (358 598) (358 598) (137 088)

Property development loan (15 328 246) (15 328 246) (926 949)

Outstanding cheques for claims (4 878 721) (4 878 721) (4 878 721)

Outstanding claims (49 358 954) (49 358 954) (49 358 954)

(88 677 355) (88 677 355) (74 054 548)

Separate 2018 Carrying amount Contractual 6 months or less
Trade and other payables (20 143 870) (20 143 870) (20 143 870)

Outstanding claims (70 002 423) (70 002 423) (70 002 423)

(90 146 293) (90 146 293) (90 146 293)

Separate 2017 Carrying amount Contractual 6 months or less
Trade and other payables (19 873 164) (19 873 164) (19 873 164)

Outstanding claims (43 719 029) (43 719 029) (43 719 029)

(63 592 193) (63 592 193) (63 592 193)

Group

Price risk

The Group has investments in equity funds and equity instruments listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and off shore listed investments. 

Fluctuations in the share prices impact on the value of the investments, giving rise to price risk.

The Group does not take out financial instruments to manage this risk as fluctuations are normal in the short term. The share prices are expected to 
stabilise over the long term.
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30. Risk management (continued)

Figure in Pula.
Fair value 31 December 2018 113 005 174

Fair value 31 December 2017 149 262 915

A 10% movement in the above stated fair values at year end would result in the following gains or losses of equal amount:

31 December 2018 11 300 517

31 December 2017 14 926 292

These gains or losses are allocated directly to equity, through other comprehensive income.

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:
Consolidated 2018 Other non-

financial assets 
and liabilities

Other financial
assets through

FVOCI

Amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

Carrying
amount

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 53 128 331 - - - 53 128 331

Other financial assets - 179 170 345 - - 179 170 345

Inventories 4 124 048 - - - 4 124 048

Trade and other receivables - - 18 927 366 - 18 927 366

Cash and cash equivalents - - 173 156 537 - 173 156 537

Taxation 297 084 - - - 297 084

57 549 463 179 170 345 192 083 903 - 428 803 711
Liabilities
Deferred taxation 876 361 - - - 876 361

Property development loan - - - 11 440 180 11 440 180

Trade and other payables 12 507 874 - - 21 455 261 33 963 135

Subscriptions in advance 79 517 - - - 79 517

Outstanding claims - - - 67 542 143 67 542 143

13 463 752 - - 100 437 584 113 901 336
Consolidated 2017
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 55 390 672 - - - 55 390 672

Other financial assets - 224 919 599 - - 224 919 599

Inventories 4 520 531 - - - 4 520 531

Trade and other receivables - - 22 837 090 - 22 837 090

Cash and cash equivalents - - 77 338 305 - 77 338 305

Tax refundable 658 113 - - - 658 113

60 569 316 224 919 599 100 175 395 - 385 664 310
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30. Risk management (continued)

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

Consolidated 2018 Other non-
financial assets 

and liabilities

Other financial
assets through

FVOCI

Amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

Carrying
amount

Liabilities

Property development loan - - - 13 470 932 13 470 932

Deferred rental liability 581 773 - - - 581 773

Trade and other payables 10 487 448 - - 30 041 579 40 529 027

Outstanding claims - - - 43 719 029 43 719 029

Finance lease obligations - - - 84 371 84 371

Finance lease obligations - - - 138 956 138 956

11 069 221 - - 87 454 867 98 524 088

Separate 2018
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 24 253 903 - - - 24 253 903

Investment in subsidiaries - 16 212 265 - - 16 212 265

Other financial assets - 179 170 345 - - 179 170 345

Trade and other receivables - - 11 122 030 - 11 122 030

Cash and cash equivalents - - 164 668 945 - 164 668 945

24 253 903 195 382 610 175 790 975 - 395 427 488
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 572 632 - - 12 712 238 20 284 870

Outstanding claims - - - 70 002 426 70 002 426

7 572 632 - - 82 714 664 90 287 296
Separate 2017
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 25 052 266 - - - 25 052 266

Investment in subsidiaries - 19 340 925 - - 19 340 925

Other financial assets - 224 919 599 - - 224 919 599

Trade receivables - - 11 882 510 - 11 882 510

Cash and cash equivalents - - 66 750 493 - 66 750 493

25 052 266 244 260 524 78 633 003 - 347 945 793

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 5 026 466 - - 14 806 703 19 833 169

Outstanding claims - - - 39 280 734 39 280 734

5 026 466 - - 54 087 437 59 113 903
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31. Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

This note provides information about how the Group determines the fair values of the various financial assets. Fair value of the Group’s financial assets 
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and are grouped into three Levels of a fair value 
hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The following table gives information about the fair values at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the 
fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Consolidated

Financial assets 2018 2017 Fair value hierarchy Valuation 
technique(s) and 
key inputs (s)

Significant 
unobservable 
input(s)

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value

Onshore listed 
equities

50 934 105 78 982 134 Level 1 Quoted last traded 
prices in an active 
market

N/A N/A

Onshore listed
bonds

59 963 510 69 356 807 Level 1 Quoted last traded 
prices in an active 
market

N/A N/A

Offshore listed
equities

28 969 878 37 963 300 Level 1 Quoted last traded 
prices in an active 
market

N/A N/A

Offshore listed
bonds

6 201 662 6 299 877 Level 1 Quoted last traded 
prices in an active 
market

N/A N/A

Other offshore
pooled/unitised 
funds

33 101 191 32 317 483 Level 2 Weighted average 
price for units held 
in portfolio. Fair 
value of underlying 
assets in portfolio 
is determined using 
quoted bid prices in 
an active market.

Weighted
average
price

A slight increase 
in the weighted 
average price would 
result in a slight 
increase in fair value 
and vice versa

Land and buildings 42 688 483 43 883 940 Level 3 Open market 
value; based on the 
market comparable 
approach that 
reflects recent
transaction prices 
for similar properties

Recent transactions
prices for similar 
properties

A significant increase
in the recent 
transactions prices 
for similar properties
would result in a
significant increase
in fair value and vice
versa.

221 858 829 268 803 541

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2018 or 2017.
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32. Retirement benefits

The Group contributes to the following defined contribution pension plans:

Botswana Medical Aid Pension Fund which is held independent of the Group and is administered by Aon Botswana (Proprietary) Limited.

Sentlhaga Pension Fund which is held independent of the Group and is administered by Aon Botswana (Proprietary) Limited.

Retirement benefits are expensed in the profit or loss.

33. Events after the reporting period

There were no events that occured after the reporting date which would require adjustments to or disclosures in these financial statements.
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